
SEE REVERSE SIDE FOR RULES FOR PUBLIC HEARINGS AND  
DISCUSSION FROM THE FLOOR 

 

Individuals with disabilities needing auxiliary aid(s) may request assistance by contacting the City Clerk at 
1301 81st Avenue NE, Spring Lake Park, MN  55432. Ph.763-784-6491 at least 48 hours in advance. 

 

CITY COUNCIL REGULAR AGENDA 
MONDAY, AUGUST 01, 2022 

CITY HALL at 7:00 PM 
 

1.     CALL TO ORDER 
2.     ROLL CALL 
3.     PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  
4.     ADDITIONS OR CORRECTIONS TO AGENDA  
5.     PRESENTATION 

A. Oath of Office - Sergeant Karen Fiske 
6.     DISCUSSION FROM THE FLOOR 
7.     CONSENT AGENDA 

A. Approval of Minutes - July 18, 2022 City Council Meeting 
B. Contractor's Licenses 
C. Special Event Permit - Spring Lake Park Schools (fee waived) 

8.     DEPARTMENT REPORTS 
A. Public Works Report 
B. Code Enforcement Report 

9.     ORDINANCES AND/OR RESOLUTIONS 
A. Resolution Granting Approval of Interim Use Permit for Platinum Auto Group LLC to Permit 

Indoor Auto Sales at 1313 Osborne Road NE 
10.     NEW BUSINESS 

A. Authorization to Begin Testing Process for Police Officer Position 
11.   REPORTS 

A. Attorney Report 
B. Engineer Report 
C. Administrator Report 

12.   OTHER 
A. Correspondence 

13.   ADJOURN 
  



RULES FOR DISCUSSION FROM THE FLOOR AND PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 
 
DISCUSSION FROM THE FLOOR 

 Discussion from the floor is limited to three minutes per person. Longer presentations must be 
scheduled through the Administrator, Clerk/Treasurer’s office. 

 

 Individuals wishing to be heard must sign in with their name and address. Meetings are video 
recorded so individuals must approach the podium and speak clearly into the microphone. 

 

 Council action or discussion should not be expected during “Discussion from the Floor.” 
Council may direct staff to research the matter further or take the matter under advisement 
for action at the next regularly scheduled meeting. 

 
PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 
The purpose of a public hearing is to allow the City Council to receive citizen input on a proposed 
project. This is not a time to debate the issue. 
 
The following format will be used to conduct the hearing: 
 

 The presenter will have a maximum of 10 minutes to explain the project as proposed. 

 Councilmembers will have the opportunity to ask questions or comment on the proposal. 
 

 Citizens will then have an opportunity to ask questions and/or comment on the project. Those 
wishing the comment are asked to limit their comments to 3 minutes. 

In cases where there is a spokesperson representing a group wishing to have their collective opinions 
voiced, the spokesperson should identify the audience group he/she is representing and may have a 
maximum of 10 minutes to express the views of the group. 
 

 People wishing to comment are asked to keep their comments succinct and specific. 
 

 Following public input, Councilmembers will have a second opportunity to ask questions of the 
presenter and/or citizens. 

 

 After everyone wishing to address the subject of the hearing has done so, the Mayor will close 
the public hearing. 

 

 The City Council may choose to take official action on the proposal or defer action until the 
next regularly scheduled Council meeting. No further public input will be received at that time. 



OFFICIAL PROCEEDINGS 
 
Pursuant to due call and notice thereof, the regularly scheduled meeting of the Spring Lake Park City 
Council Regular was held on July 18, 2022 at the City Hall, at 7:00 PM. 
 
1.     CALL TO ORDER 
 
Mayor Nelson called the meeting to order at 7:00 PM. 
 
2.     ROLL CALL 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT 
Mayor Robert Nelson 
Councilmember Ken Wendling 
Councilmember Brad Delfs 
Councilmember Goodboe-Bisschoff  
 
MEMENERS ABSENT 
Councilmember Lisa Dircks 
 
STAFF PRESENT 
Public Works Director Terry Randall, Sergeant Richard Kramer, Recreation Director Kay Okey, Attorney 
John Thames, Administrator Daniel Buchholtz. 
 
VISITORS  
Christine Jones, 8081 Garfield Street NE 
Abby Kosberg, 110 77th Way NE 
Alein Kemp, 1066 County Highway 10 NE 
Jordan Budke, 1066 County Highway 10 NE 
Lugene Flores, 1066 County Highway 10 NE 
Georgeann Copestick, 1066 County Highway 10 NE 
Karen Winehold, 1066 County Highway 10 NE 
Sharon, 1066 County Highway 10 NE 
Ruby, 1066 County Highway 10 NE 
 
3.     PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  
 
4.     ADDITIONS OR CORRECTIONS TO AGENDA  
 
 Administrator Buchholtz requested that the following changes be made to the agenda: 1) that 

Item 5A. be added to the agenda: Abby Kosberg – North Suburban Center for the Arts.  2) that 
item 7A, Hearing on Revocation of Rental Housing License – 530 82nd Avenue NE be removed; and 
that item 7B, Hearing on Revocation of Rental Housing License – 7827 Quincy Street NE be 
removed.  He stated that all the properties have been brought into compliance. 

 
 



OFFICIAL PROCEEDINGS PAGE 2 July 18, 2022 
 
5.     DISCUSSION FROM THE FLOOR  
 

A.  Abby Kosberg – Executive Director of North Suburban Center for The Arts.  Ms. Kosberg 
stated that the Center had a new mission, is to engage the community through the arts.  
She said this engagement is done by hosting art programs.  She stated that 25% of the 
membership is made up of Spring lake Park residents. 

 
B. Christine Jones asked for an update on the Garfield Pond trees.  Administrator Buchholtz 

stated that he and Public Works Director Randall were working on a potential plan for 
plantings with more sustainability. 

 
C. Lugene Flores, a representative of the residents from the Legends of Spring Lake Park 

discussed the concerns of the residents seeing a 12.5% rent increase.  She stated that the 
residents currently are utilizing 70% of their income for rent, and that the COLA they 
received from Social Security does not match the increase that the rate of inflation does.  
Ms. Flores asked for assistance discussing the issue with Legislators and Dominium. 

 
Administrator Buchholtz stated that rents are based on the median income of Anoka 
County.  Council suggested reaching out to Dominium.  Administrator Buchholtz suggested 
that the residents reach out to Senator Klobuchar, Senator Smith and Representative Omar.  
Council requested Buchholtz draft a letter to Dominium requesting them to reconsider the 
rent increase. 

 
6.     CONSENT AGENDA 
 

A. Approval of Minutes - June 13, 2022 City Council/Planning Commission Joint Work Session 
B. Approval of Minutes - July 5, 2022 City Council Work Session 
C. Approval of Minutes - July 5, 2022 City Council Meeting 
D. Approval of Claims List - June 2022 General Disbursements - $896,876.71 
E. Contractor's Request for Payment No. 1 - 2022 Street Seal Coat and Crack Repair Project 
F. Public Right-of-Way Application - CenterPoint Energy 
G. Contractor's Licenses 

 
Motion made by Councilmember Wendling to approve Consent Agenda. 
 
Voting Aye:  Councilmember Wendling, Councilmember Delfs, Councilmember Goodboe-
Bisschoff, Mayor Nelson.  Motion carried. 

 
7.    PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 

A. Rental License Revocation for Certain Property Located at 530 82nd Avenue NE  
 
Removed 
 
 



OFFICIAL PROCEEDINGS PAGE 3 July 18, 2022 
 

B. Rental License Revocation for Certain Property Located at 7827 Quincey Street NE 
 

Removed 
 
8.     DEPARTMENT REPORTS 

 
A. Police Report 
 

Sergeant Kramer reported that the Police Department responded to 860 calls for service in 
June 2022 compared to 650 calls for service for the month of June 2021.    

 
Sergeant Kramer said Investigator Bennek handled 25 cases for the month of June, 23 of 
which were felony in nature and 2 misdemeanors.  He said Investigator Bennek coordinated 
the catalytic converter event with Heartland Tire on June 30, 2022. He said 25 vehicles were 
marked during the event. 

 
Sergeant Kramer stated that Officer Lemke, the evidence room officer donated 14 bikes to 
Bikes4Kids in Ham Lake.  He stated that Chief Antoine would like to thank Officer Fiske for 
coordinating the Police Departments involvement with the parade.  He reported that Chief 
Antoine was able to finish the hiring process to a close for Officer Drinkwine who started on 
June 13, 2022.   

 
He said that Chief Antoine also would like to thank Blaine Police Department, Anoka County 
Sheriff’s Office and the Ramsey Police Department for sending reserves and explorers to 
assist during the parade.  Sergeant Kramer stated that Chief Antoine participated in the Law 
Enforcement Torch Run for Special Olympics on June 24, 2022.   

 
B. Recreation Report 

 
Parks & Recreation Director Okey stated that the summer programs are going well and the 
participation has increased since July 4, 2022.  She noted that the summer Adult Softball 
Program finished the season with a tournament and that the Parks Department is now 
taking registrations for the Fall League.  Director Okey thanked the Junior Leaders for their 
participation.    

 
10.    NEW BUSINESS 
 

A. Authorize Conditional Job Offer to Anne Scanlon for Recreation Program Supervisor Position 
 
Recreation Director Okey stated that council gave prior approval to advertise and interview 
candidates for the Recreation Program Supervisor position.  She noted the five candidates 
interviewed were all well qualified, with one candidate Anne Scanlon being the leading 
selection. 
 



OFFICIAL PROCEEDINGS PAGE 4 July 18, 2022 
 

Director Okey is recommending Anne Scanlon for the position with a start date of August 9, 
2022.  Ms. Scanlon will begin at the starting salary of Step 1 on the compensation scale, 
$66,381.11 annually. 
 
Motion made by Councilmember Goodboe-Bisschoff to Authorize Conditional Job Offer to 
Anne Scanlon for Recreation Program Supervisor Position. 
 
Voting Aye:  Councilmember Wendling, Councilmember Delfs, Councilmember Goodboe-
Bisschoff, Mayor Nelson.  Motion carried. 

 
B. Schedule Work Session for August 8, 2022 at 5:30 pm 

 
Administrator Buchholtz stated that the Work Session on August 8 is the annual budget 
meeting.  He noted that the topic of edibles will be discussed at that time.  

 
11.   REPORTS 

 
A. Attorney Report  

 
No Report 
 

B. Engineer Report  
 

Engineer Report is in the packet.   
 

C. Administrator Report  
 

Administrator Buchholtz expressed his appreciation for the floral arrangement sent on 
behalf of the City for his father-in-law’s funeral. 

 
12.   OTHER 
 

A. Correspondence 
 

Mayor Nelson stated that the Yellow Ribbon Program will be ending the Tuesday 
hamburger night once the supplies have been depleted.  He noted that the second Monday 
of the month will be dedicated to the Yellow Ribbon Program along with the fourth Monday 
of the night for Pork Chop night. 
 

13.   ADJOURN 
 
Motion made by Councilmember Wendling to adjourn. 
 
Voting Aye:  Councilmember Wendling, Councilmember Delfs, Councilmember Goodboe-Bisschoff, 
Mayor Nelson.  Motion carried. 



OFFICIAL PROCEEDINGS PAGE 5 July 18, 2022 
 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 8:03 PM. 
 
   

 Robert Nelson, Mayor 
 
Attest:   
  

Daniel R. Buchholtz, Administrator, Clerk/Treasurer 
 





 
 

 

Special Event Permit Application/Checklist 
 
Application and fee must be filed with the City at least 45 days in advance of the date in which 
the Special Event is to occur.  Applications should be sent to City of Spring Lake Park, Attn:  
Daniel Buchholtz. 
 

PROPERTY INFORMATION 

Property Address  

Property Legal Description  

Property ID Number  

PROPERTY OWNER INFORMATION 

Owner Name  

Owner Address  

Owner Phone  

Owner E-mail  

APPLICANT INFORMATION 

Applicant Name  

Applicant Address  

Applicant Phone  

Applicant E-mail  

EVENT INFORMATION 

Name of Event  

Location/Address of Event  

Dates & Times of Event  

REQUIRED SUBMITTALS 

This application is not considered complete until the following materials have been submitted.  Failure 
to submit any or all of the required materials may result in a delay or denial of your permit.  Please 
attach separate pages as necessary. 
 

 Admission Fee / Rental Fee / Donation Requested   $     

 Food / Alcohol being served         

 Special City Services Requested (road closure, security, traffic control, etc) 

 Copies of any required State, County or other local government license or permit (liquor, 
gambling, etc.) 

 Certificate of Insurance (must name the city as an additional insured, see insurance 
requirements) 

 Any Public Health Plans (water supply, solid waste collection, toilet facilities, etc.) 

 Emergency Plans (fire prevention, emergency medical, severe weather, etc.) 

 Site Layout 

 Security Plans 

 Traffic / Parking Plans 

 Sound / Noise Plan 

 
  

1100 81st Avenue NE, Spring Lake Park, MN 55432 

763.600.5051 
CPEDER@District16.org

Spring Lake Park School District, MN ISD#16

"Start Your Engines" 

1415  81st Avenue NE, Spring Lake Park, MN 55432 

1415  81st Avenue NE, Spring Lake Park, MN 55432

763.600.5051
CPEDER@District16.org

 

 

N / A 
N / A 

 01-30-24-32-0001

IND School Distrcit #16    Spring Lake Park Schools 

 LOT 11 AUD SUB NO 152, EX RD, SUBJ TO EASE OF REC

1100 81st Avenue NE, Spring Lake Park, MN 55432

9/10/22    Approximately 8:00am - 3:00pm

N / A 



 

 
 

 

 
 

INSURANCE CARRIER FOR EVENT 

A certificate of insurance naming the City of Spring Lake Park as an additional insured must be 
submitted at least 10 days prior to the event start date.  Amount of insurance required is 
$1,000,000. 
 
Name of Insurance Carrier  Policy #  
 

PROPERTY OWNER’S STATEMENT 

I am the fee title owner of the described property and I agree to this application.  I certify that I am in 
compliance with all ordinance requirements and conditions regarding other City approval that had been 
previously granted. 

Signature: Date: 

APPLICANT’S STATEMENT 

The application shall be processed in my name and I am the party whom the City should contact 
regarding the application.  I have completed all of the applicable filing requirements and I hereby 
acknowledge that I have read and fully understand the applicable provisions of the City Ordinances and 
current policies related to this application and that the documents and information I have submitted are 
true and correct. 

 
Signature: 
 

Date: 

 
CITY APPROVAL 

 
Conditions for Approval:    

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

       

 
DEPARTMENTAL ROUTING 

 

   
City Administrator 

 

   
Police 

 

   
Public Works 

 

   
Code Enforcement 

 

   
Fire Department (if required) 

 
COUNCIL ACTION 

 
 Approved  Denied Date:   

 
 DISAPPROVAL BY:  
 DATE:  
 DEPT:  
 PHONE:  
 

 
Application fee (non-refundable):  $50.00 Paid:  Receipt #:  
* Additional Administrative, Public Works and Police costs may apply. 

 



Special Event Permit Addendum 

Spring Lake Park Schools Community Education 

Start Your Engines Event 

Saturday, September 10, 2022 

 

Public Health Plans: Spring Lake Park High School will be open for toilet facilities both at door #1 

and #6. No change to normal solid waste collection. Water supply not necessary. 

Emergency Plans: In the case of severe weather, event would be canceled. SLPHS facility would be 

available for emergency use if needed.  Event will take place outside.  Heavy rain forecast will likely 

cancel event.  

Site Layout/Traffic/Parking Plans: 

Volunteers will be located at road closure barricades to assist with traffic flow and monitor 

accessibility. 

Participant parking will be located in the parking lot east of the main entrance, south of the baseball 

fields.  There are two entrance and exit points to 81st Avenue. This is a come and go event.  

Participants will come and go throughout the four hour period. We do not anticipate parking issues 

because of this. 

The Event Exhibits will be in the “Student” parking lot, south east corner of the property. 

 



Security Plans: Staff and Volunteers will be equipped with two-way radios for quick and easy 

communication between points on the property.  OEC will be a participant in the event. If emergency 

occurs, staff and volunteers will call 911. 

Sound/Noise Plan: We don’t anticipate and sound or noise coming from exhibit. 

 

All standard Spring Lake Park school district protocols will be in place regarding: health, safety and 

security.  



 
Memorandum 
To:   Mayor Nelson and Members of the City Council 
From:  Terry Randall, Public Works Director 
Date:  July 28, 2022 
Subject: July 2022 Public Works Report 
 
During the month of July, the Public Works Department was busy doing the following activities:  

 Mow grass, weed whip, weed the flower beds, pick garbage and recycling up  

 Fertilized the parks 

 Dug out and formed up concrete for new shelter at Terrace Park 

 Installed new conduit and wire for the shelter at Terrace Park 

 Painted crosswalks and stop bars 

 Painted arrows in the sealcoat project area 

 Installed new traffic signs on 81st Avenue NE 

 Cleaned sewers 

 Repaired Equipment 
 
 
July Appointments: 

 July 21– Meeting on Able Park Building Reconstruction 
 



City of Spring Lake Park 
Code Enforcement Division 
1301 Eighty First Avenue Northeast 

Spring Lake Park, Minnesota 55432 

(763) 783-6491   Fax:  (763) 792-7257 

 
 

REPORT 
 

 

TO:  Spring Lake Park City Council 
 

FROM: Jeff Baker, Code Enforcement Director 
 

RE:  Code Enforcement Monthly Report for July 2022 
 

DATE: July 27, 2022 

 

 

Permits for July, had a total of 16 building, 1 certificate of occupancy, 3 fire suppression, 9 

Zoning, 7 mechanical and 8 plumbing for a total of 45 permits issued compared to a total of 41 in 

2021.  Code Enforcement conducted 126 inspections in the month of July including 60 building, 

25 housing, 16 fire, 22 nuisance and 3 site-visits.   

   

I met with Don Sivigny from the MN Department of labor and Industry. Don is the inspector for 

the current high school project. We had a great conversation about getting reserve delegation to 

perform more inspections on state projects. This will result in more inspection revenue on work 

at the schools in our City. 

 

1200 81st Ave and 8030 Central Ave were inspected in the month of July, The new 

owner/property management company are making great progress. It shows that they truly care 

about their properties. 

 

The Legends of Spring Lake Park and Northtown apartments are going through a new 

management change. Don’t be surprised if you hear more complaints while the transition takes 

place. If you do, let myself or inspector Morris know so we can follow up. 

 

In July of 2022, I also attended the following appointments: 
 

 SLP High School Site Visit July 14th.  

 Able Park pre-con meeting 21st.  

 Code review Meeting with the City of Ramsey July 28th. 

 

This concludes the Code Enforcement Department monthly report for July 2022.  If anyone has 

any questions or concerns regarding my report, I would be happy to answer them at this time. 

 



RESOLUTION NO. 22-36 

 

RESOLUTION GRANTING APPROVAL OF INTERIM USE PERMIT FOR PLATNUM 

AUTO GROUP LLC TO PERMIT INDOOR AUTO SALES AT 1313 OSBORNE ROAD 

NE 

 

 

 WHEREAS, Triet Nguyen, Tint Pro’s LLC. (the “Applicant”) submitted an application 

for approval of a conditional use permit to permit the operation of an auto detailing, window 

tinting, vinyl wrap, light mechanical, auto sales and other associated auto services at 1313 Osborne 

Road NE; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the legal description for the conditional use permit is as follows: 

 
That part of Lot 22, Auditor’s Subdivision No. 152, lying South of the North line of the 

South 505 feet of the Southwest Quarter of the Southeast Quarter of Section 1, Township 

30, Range 24, Anoka County, Minnesota, except the South 330 feet of the West 230 feet 

of said Lot 22, also except that part of said Lot 22, lying within the South 100 feet of said 

Quarter Quarter 

AND 

That part of Lot 22, Auditor’s Subdivision No. 152 and of the Southwest Quarter of the 

Southwest Quarter of Section 1, Township 30 North, Range 24 West, Anoka County, 

Minnesota, described as that part of the Southerly 100 feet of said Quarter-Quarter lying 

Westerly of the Southerly extension of the East line of Lot 22, Auditor’s Subdivision No. 

152, except Lot 24, Auditor’s Subdivision No. 152.  Abstract property; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council approved a conditional use permit to permit auto detailing, 

window tinting, vinyl wrap, light mechanical and other associated auto services at its June 6 

meeting; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council approved a code amendment creating an interim use permit 

process and making automobile sales as an interim use in the I-1 zoning district; and 

 

 WHEREAS, on July 6, 2022, Mr. Nguyen requested his application for auto sales be 

amended from a conditional use permit to an interim use permit; and 

 

 WHEREAS, on July 25, 2022, the applicant requested the name associated with the auto 

sales business be updated to Platinum Auto Group, LLC; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission considered the Applicant’s request at a duly 

noticed Public Hearing which took place on July 25, 2022; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Planning Commission recommended approval of the application to the 

City Council; and 

 



 WHEREAS, the City Council considered the application at its August 1, 2022 meeting 

and has made the following findings in support of approval of the conditional use permit 

application: 

1. The proposed use is a reasonable use of the property, anticipated as a interim use in the 

I-1 Light Industrial District. 

2. Automobile sales will occur entirely inside the building and is therefore not expected 

to have a detrimental effect on surrounding properties or lower property values. 

3. Adjacent roadways and the existing parking lot are adequate to handle anticipated 

traffic and vehicles using the site. 

4. No changes are proposed to site grading and drainage and therefore stormwater 

management should be adequate as it exists now. 

5. Unusual odors, fumes, dust, noise or vibration associated with the use will be 

adequately mitigated by the applicant and work will be conducted indoors. 

6. No residential use is proposed on the site; and, therefore incompatible growth in that 

regard is not an issue with this use. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Spring 

Lake Park that the City Council does hereby approve the application made by the Applicant for a 

interim use permit to permit auto sales at 1313 Osborne Road NE, subject to the following 

conditions: 

1. Applicant shall store automobile vehicles for sale inside the building.  No outdoor storage 

of vehicles and associated merchandise is permitted. 

2. The applicant shall comply with the conditions outlined in Resolution 32-22. 

3. The interim use permit shall expire either upon the sale or transfer of ownership of the 

building and/or business, a violation of the conditions of the interim use permit or a change 

in the City’s zoning regulations which renders the use nonconforming, whichever is earlier. 

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED by the City Council that the application for a conditional 

use permit to permit auto sales at 1313 Osborne Road NE is denied with the finding of fact that 

auto sales is not a permitted or conditional use in the I-1, Light Industrial District. 

 

 

The foregoing Resolution was moved for adoption by Councilmember . 

 

Upon Vote being taken thereon, the following voted in favor thereof:  

 

And the following voted against the same:   

 

  



Whereon the Mayor declared said Resolution duly passed and adopted the 1st day of August, 2022. 

 

 

APPROVED BY: 

 

___________________________________ 

Robert Nelson, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

_________________________________ 

Daniel R. Buchholtz, City Administrator  



State of Minnesota    )     

Counties of Anoka and Ramsey ) ss 

City of Spring Lake Park   )  

 

I, Daniel R. Buchholtz, duly appointed and qualified City Clerk in and for the City of Spring 

Lake Park, Anoka and Ramsey Counties, Minnesota, do hereby Certify that the foregoing is a 

true and correct copy of Resolution No. 22-36, Resolution Granting Approval of Interim Use 

Permit for Platinum Auto Group LLC at 1313 Osborne Road NE, adopted by the Spring Lake 

Park City Council at their regular meeting on the 1st day of August, 2022. 

 

 

 

 (SEAL)            

              Daniel R. Buchholtz, Administrator, Clerk/Treasurer 

 

       

                   Dated:        

 



 
Memorandum 
To:  Mayor Nelson and Members of the City Council 

From:  Daniel R. Buchholtz, MMC, Administrator, Clerk/Treasurer 

Date:  July 27, 2022 

Subject: Platinum Auto Group LLC Interim Use Permit 
 
Tint Pros, 1313 Osborne Road, has applied for an interim use permit to permit automobile sales 
in the I-1 zoning district.  They have requested that the business name associated with the interim 
use permit be Platinum Auto Group LLC. 
 
Tint Pros originally applied for a conditional use permit to allow their business to expand into the 
1313 Osborne Road premises.  They also applied for a text amendment to permit auto sales in the 
I-1 zoning district as a conditional use.  The City Council approved the request from Tint Pros to 
approve a conditional use permit to allow auto detailing and light repair at 1313 Osborne Road on 
June 6, 2022.   
 
The City Council, in consultation with the Planning Commission, came to consensus that auto 
sales as a conditional use is not appropriate for the I-1 zoning district but that it may be 
appropriate for an interim use.  An ordinance amending the zoning code to establish an interim 
use permit process and to include automobile sales as an interim use was considered by the 
Commission at its June 27 meeting and subsequently approved by the City Council at the July 5 
Council meeting.   
 
The difference between a conditional use and an interim use is that a conditional use is a 
permitted use with reasonable conditions that runs with the land.  An interim use ends at a 
specific time or event. 
 
After discussing the City Council’s action with the applicant, Tint Pros agreed to amend their 
application to seek an interim use permit to permit automobile sales in the I-1 zoning district. 
 
Staff has reviewed the application and recommends approval of the interim use permit with the 
following conditions: 
 

1. The applicant shall store automobile vehicles for sale inside the building.  No outdoor 
storage of vehicles and associated merchandise is permitted. 

2. The applicant shall comply with the conditions outlined in Resolution 22-32. 
3. The interim use permit shall expire either upon the sale or transfer of ownership of the 

building and/or business, a violation of the conditions of the interim use permit or a 



change in the City’s zoning regulations which renders the use nonconforming, whichever is 
earlier. 

 
We recommend the following findings of fact for approval of the interim use permit: 
 

1. The proposed use is a reasonable use of the property, anticipated as an Interim Use in the 
I-1, Light Industrial District. 

2. Automobile sales will occur entirely inside a building, thereby not having a detrimental 
effect on surrounding properties or lower property values. 

3. Adjacent roadways and the existing parking lot are adequate to handle anticipated traffic 
and vehicles using the site. 

4. No changes are proposed to site grading and drainage and therefore stormwater 
management should be adequate as it exists now. 

5. There are no unusual odors, fumes, dust, noise or vibration associated with the interim 
use. 

6. No residential use is proposed on the site and therefore incompatible growth in that regard 
is not an issue with this use. 

 
The Planning Commission held a public hearing on the application at its July 25, 2022 meeting 
and recommended approval of the application. 
 
If you have any questions regarding the application, please don’t hesitate to contact me at 763-784-
6491. 



 

Memorandum 

 

 

Date: August 1, 2022 

 

To: Mayor and City Council  

 

From: Joshua Antoine 

            Chief of Police 

 

Re: Authorization to begin testing process for a Police Officer position  

 

Mayor and City Council Members, 

 

On July 5, 2022, you authorized me to give conditional offers for employment to our top candidate 

pending finishing the testing process.  Unfortunately, our top candidate was unable to successfully finish 

the process.  Due to this development I am requesting to start the testing process by advertising the 

position for a police officer, accepting applications, and conducting interviews to determine top 

candidates for the position. 

 

I am seeking Mayor and Council authorization for this process now to minimize the amount of time that 

the police department will be short-staffed.  

 

Thank you, 

 

Chief Antoine   



 

 

 

 
City of Spring Lake Park  

Engineer’s Project Status Report 
 

 

To: Council Members and Staff  Re: Status Report for 08.01.22 Meeting       
 

From:  Phil Gravel     File No.: R-18GEN  
 

 

Note:  Updated information is shown in italics.    

 
2022 MS4 Permit and SWPPP Update (193805251).  Annual Report was submitted on June 

30th.  Public Meeting was held on June 20, 2022.   Pond, structural BMP, and outfall inspections due 
by July 31st.  Program analysis and annual training is due in December.     
 
2021 Sewer Lining Project (193805204).  This project included lining in the general area 
between Terrace and Monroe and south of 81st Avenue.  Terry Randall is watching this 
project.  Lining work has been completed.  Grout work will occur this summer.  Contractor is 
Visu-Sewer – status request message was sent to Contractor on 7-26-22.           

 
2023 Sewer Lining Project (19380xxx).  Terry Randall has received preliminary televising 
reports of the remaining sanitary sewers in the city that need to be lined.  This information will 
be used to determine the scope for a lining project in 2023.               

 
2022 Street Seal Coat and Crack Repair Project (193805507).  2022 project area included 81st 
Ave., Arthur St., Middletown, and the Service Drive southwest of 10 and 65.  Project also included 

striping part of 81st Ave. as a 3-lane road.  Crack repair work completed week of June 13th.  Seal 
coat was placed on June 24th.  Pavement Markings were placed in late-July.  Final payment 
will be processed when close-out documents are received from Contractor.       

 
2022 Street Improvements Project (193805383).  Public Improvement Hearings were on 10/4/21 
and 11/15/21.  Bids were received on January 31st.  Public Assessment Hearing and Project Award 
were on March 21st.   
 
Construction Contractor is Northwest Asphalt.  Construction started on May 9th.   Bituminous base 
course and sidewalk work were completed in May.  Final bituminous wear course was paved on June 

6, 2022.   A punch-list inspection will be completed with the Public Works Director this month.      

 
City Hall Building (193805580).  A process for evaluating possible city hall remodel options has 
started.  Data on the existing building has been collected.  A kick-off meeting with city staff was held 
on 5-31-22. Initial schematic floor plan options as distributed on 7-8-22 are being considered.     

 
 
Feel free to contact Harlan Olson, Mark Rolfs, Phil Carlson, Jim Engfer, Peter Allen, Bruce Paulson, or me if you have 
questions or require additional information. 
 
 
 
 





• The evolving U.S. political dynamic could threaten both an economic recovery 
and U.S. public finance credit conditions if there is limited to no appetite for 
emergency fiscal policy in response to a U.S. recession.

• The U.S. Federal Reserve is expected to continue to tighten its monetary policy 
into a declining macro-economic landscape. Fed Chair Powell says recession is a 
“possibility.” Now, a 100 basis point increase is possible in July. 

• We review the municipal bond market buying opportunities in 2008, 2011, 2013, 
2020 and today so investors can establish their playbook for municipal bond 
investing for the second half of this year.

• In June we revised our issuance forecast to $410 billion. If rates rise substantially 
and issuance continues to fall we may need to revise it lower again.

• Negative municipal fund flows slowed toward the end of June and into July. 
Thursday we saw $206 billion flow into municipal funds, per Lipper data. This was 
the first positive flow number we have seen since June 2. 

• We are not ready to call an end to the Golden Age of Public Finance. U.S. public 
finance credit quality will remain strong over the last half of 2022, and we still 
expect public finance upgrades to outpace downgrades.

U.S. POLITICAL DYNAMIC
Voter Sentiment Souring on Direction of Country, Democrats 
The government experiment that is the United States of America is experiencing another 
profound shift just about a year and a half after voters rallied around hope for normalcy 
in 2020, and 2021. The results from the 2020 U.S. elections were an important driver of 
public finance in 2021 and so far for the first half of 2022. The key reason the Democrats 
were able to pass the sixth phase of COVID relief, also known as the American Rescue 
Plan Act of 2021, was because Democrats somewhat surprisingly won both run-off 
Senate elections in Georgia. Democrats did not secure a mandate from the voters. Nor 
did these victories create the Blue Wave the Democrats were seeking. But, a tie-breaking 
vote gave Democrats a method to slam through the Rescue Plan Act legislation via a 
path known as budget reconciliation.

Political Dynamic Weakening for Democrats Going Into Second Half of 2022
Poll Result Topic

77% Believe the country is headed in the wrong direction

64% Of Democrats don’t want Pres. Joe Biden as Nominee in 2024

94% Of Democrats (ages 18-29) don’t want Pres. Joe Biden as Nominee in 2024

Source: New York Times/ Siena Collge poll July 5-7, and HilltopSecurities.

Now, just a year and a half after the surprise results in Georgia voter sentiment is very 
much souring on Democrats and their progressive agenda. Almost everywhere, and 
almost daily we see negative stories and worsening polling data painting a difficult road 

We review the municipal bond 
market buying opportunities in 
2008, 2011, 2013, 2020 and today 
so investors can establish their 
playbook for municipal bond 
investing for the second half of this 
year.

A Playbook to Navigate Municipals in the 2nd Half of 2022

Please see disclosure starting on page 9.

Tom Kozlik
Head of Municipal Research & Analytics 
214.859.9439
tom.kozlik@hilltopsecurities.com

U.S. Municipal Bond Market 

Municipal Commentary

Page 1

July 15, 2022



Municipal Commentary

Page 2

The NYT/Siena poll results indicated 
that 77% say the country is headed 
in the wrong direction. 

We expect there to be limited to 
no political appetite in D.C. for 
significant fiscal policy once an 
economic downturn is experienced. 
This would be a negative not 
just for the prospects of a quick 
economic recovery, but also for credit 
conditions in U.S. public finance.

It should not be surprising that 88% 
of those polled indicated that the 
Country is headed in the wrong 
direction.

ahead for Democrats. The building of undesirable trends are harming reelection hopes 
for sure. This sentiment was reaffirmed at the beginning of July in a New York Times/ 
Siena College poll taken between July 5-7. An easier path to power for Republicans is 
developing as a result.

The NYT/Siena poll results indicated that 77% say the country is headed in the wrong 
direction. More importantly for Democrats’ chances in Nov. 2022 and 2024 elections 
are that 64% of Democratic primary voters do not want President Joe Biden as their 
nominee. This message gets even worse for Democrats. This is because 94% of those 
polled (who would vote in the Democratic primary) between the ages of 18-29 do not 
want President Biden as their nominee.

Why the Politics Matters – Potentially Limited Appetite for Emergency Fiscal 
Policy
These political trends could have massive implications for not only U.S. public finance 
but for the U.S. economy especially if, or when there is an economic downturn. The 
political whiplash building throughout the country is likely going to at least split control 
of Congress. It is also possible Republicans take control of both the House and Senate 
in November. If that is the outcome it is going to be very difficult to envision any type 
of meaningful emergency fiscal policy spending materializing in a situation where the 
White House is controlled by the left and Congress by the right. This dynamic is especially 
important to consider because of the increased risk of a potential recession that may 
occur in 2022, 2023, or even right around the 2024 Presidential election. 

Since March of 2020 voters, politicians (on each side of the aisle), and even the private 
sector became accustomed to a massive amount of U.S. fiscal policy spending. In 2020 
and 2021 Washington spent over $6 trillion on its COVID-19 response and much of that 
has been questioned. Therefore, we expect there to be limited to no political appetite in 
D.C. for significant fiscal policy once an economic downturn is experienced. This would 
be a negative not just for the prospects of a quick economic recovery, but also for credit 
conditions in U.S. public finance.

U.S. ECONOMIC LANDSCAPE
General concern about economic problems have risen in 2022. When asked in June 
2022, “What do you think is the most important problem facing the country today?” 40% 
of those polled by Gallup included topics such as: inflation (18%), economy in general 
(13%) and, fuel/ oil prices (5%). Only 1% of those polled included “recession,” in the June 
poll. In February 2022 only 30% cited economic problems.

Even within the month of June the concern about economic problems increased. A 
Monmouth University poll conducted between June 23-27 reported that 66% of those 
polled are concerned with economic issues such as inflation (33%), gas prices (15%), the 
economy (9%), everyday bills (6%), and job security (3%). 42% of those polled say they 
are struggling to remain where they are financially. It should not be surprising that 88% 
of those polled indicated that the Country is headed in the wrong direction.

https://int.nyt.com/data/documenttools/us0722-crosstabs-nyt071122/33ffa85627ee4648/full.pdf
https://int.nyt.com/data/documenttools/us0722-crosstabs-nyt071122/33ffa85627ee4648/full.pdf
https://news.gallup.com/poll/1675/most-important-problem.aspx
https://news.gallup.com/poll/1675/most-important-problem.aspx
https://www.monmouth.edu/polling-institute/documents/monmouthpoll_us_070522.pdf/
https://www.monmouth.edu/polling-institute/documents/monmouthpoll_us_070522.pdf/


Municipal Commentary

Page 3

Inflation concerns and the U.S. 
Federal Reserve’s potential response 
were chief issues for financial markets 
in the first half of 2022. 

It will not be surprising if we see a 
similar dynamic develop before July 
27, especially considering the hot CPI 
data we saw on Wednesday (July 
13).

Inflation-Watch Transitions to Worries About Recession
Inflation concerns and the U.S. Federal Reserve’s potential response were chief issues for 
financial markets in the first half of 2022. Market concerns about a potential economic 
recession are rising as the second half of the year gets underway. Jobs data from 
Friday staves off immediate concern of recession but labor market data is being closely 
watched. Friday’s non-farm payroll release showed that 372,000 jobs were added in June, 
this is well above the 265,000 Bloomberg median forecast. At the end of last week this 
meant that the Fed was likely to raise their target rate later in the month by at least 75 
basis points.

A data release this week showed an important inflation indicator, the consumer price 
index, increased by a significant level or 9.1% year-over-year. This was above the median 
forecast of 8.8% and also a 41-year high. This indicator even more importantly is telling 
the markets that the Fed may have to act with more punch when they meet July 26-27. 
After July the Fed’s next scheduled meeting is for September 20-21. In the middle to the 
end of this week support for a 100 basis point hike on July 27 gained more attention and 
support. The Bank of Canada tightened their policy by 100 basis points on Wednesday 
June 13. The potential for a 100 basis-point increase by the U.S. Fed is rising for July.

Fed Tightens Into a Declining Macro-Economic Landscape
The action and/or inaction of the U.S. Federal Reserve Bank has been among the leading 
storylines of 2022. Wednesday (June 15) the Federal Reserve barely surprised the market 
with a 75 basis point rate hike. The largest rate hike in nearly 30 years was a little bit 
expected and a little bit of a surprise at first glance. When viewed another way, a more 
realistic way, it is probably just not enough monetary policy action at an inappropriate 
time. The battle to achieve the goal of conquering inflation was going to be long and 
painful at best. The Fed’s June 15 action illustrated that volatility and uncertainty is 
something financial markets and policy makers will need to get used to. For now, the 
Fed’s overnight target rate is set between a range of 1.50%-1.75%. We can’t say June’s 
action was a complete surprise because by the afternoon of Monday June 13 over half 
of financial firms were calling for or expecting a 75 basis point increase compared to the 
50 basis point action earlier expected. It will not be surprising if we see a similar dynamic 
develop before July 27, especially considering the hot CPI data we saw on Wednesday 
(July 13).

https://www.hilltopsecurities.com/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2022/07/economic-commentary_07.13.2022.pdf
https://www.hilltopsecurities.com/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2022/07/economic-commentary_07.13.2022.pdf
https://www.hilltopsecurities.com/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2022/07/economic-commentary_07.13.2022.pdf
https://www.hilltopsecurities.com/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2022/07/economic-commentary_07.08.2022.pdf
https://www.hilltopsecurities.com/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2022/07/economic-commentary_07.08.2022.pdf
https://www.federalreserve.gov/monetarypolicy/fomccalendars.htm
https://www.bankofcanada.ca/2022/07/fad-press-release-2022-07-13/
https://www.hilltopsecurities.com/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2022/06/economic-commentary_06.15.1.2022.pdf
https://www.hilltopsecurities.com/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2022/07/economic-commentary_07.13.2022.pdf
https://www.hilltopsecurities.com/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2022/07/economic-commentary_07.13.2022.pdf


Municipal Commentary

Page 4

In his comments to the public on 
June 15 Fed Chair Jerome Powell 
noted that more rate hikes were 
coming. In comments to Congress 
he admitted a soft landing will 
be difficult, and recession is a 
“possibility.”

Some data indicates the economic 
landscape is in fact deteriorating. 

U.S. Interest Rates are Steeply Rising in 2022

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

7%

8%

9%

1990 1994 1998 2002 2006 2010 2014 2018 2022

Fed Funds Target Rate, 1.50%-1.75% June 15, 2022

Source: U.S. Federal Reserve Bank and HilltopSecurities.

This change in June’s Fed expectation occurred very quickly. The adjustment occurred 
because questionable economic data was capped off the previous Friday by a very hot 
consumer price index number, the highest in 40 years. Sound familiar? Financial markets 
tumbled on June 10 and analysts quickly revised their forecasts. Fed projections released 
in June now project their benchmark short-term rate to rise to 3.4% by the end of 2022. 
In his comments to the public on June 15 Fed Chair Jerome Powell noted that more rate 
hikes were coming. In comments to Congress he admitted a soft landing will be difficult, 
and recession is a “possibility.”

Financial markets have become increasingly fearful and most participants are expecting 
pain economically, financially and even politically (for the party in control for the time 
being as we highlight above). Whether or not you buy into the potential or likelihood of 
a recession, one cannot deny that the economic data and analysis is mostly becoming 
more negative every day. There are some like Mark Zandi, of Moody’s Analytics who 
are leaning toward the positive side. Then, again there are some who would say that 
it already feels as though a recession is already here. Inflation is costing the average 
American family $460 a month, according to Moody’s Analytics. The 30-year mortgage 
rate rose to just under 6.00% amounting to a more than 40% increase in the monthly 
payment for a $300,000 mortgage compared to the end of 2021. Credit card interest 
charges are higher, and rising as well. 

Some data indicates the economic landscape is in fact deteriorating. The Conference 
Board’s Leading Economic Index (LEI) which is made up of ten meaningful indicator 
components such as jobless claims, the S&P 500, and average workweek data dropped 
0.4% in May (June 17). This was the third straight month the LEI fell and the fourth time 
in five months.

Fed projections released in June now 
project their benchmark short-term 
rate to rise to 3.4% by the end of 
2022.

https://www.cnbc.com/2022/06/22/powell-tells-congress-the-fed-is-strongly-committed-to-bringing-inflation-down.html
https://www.hilltopsecurities.com/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2022/06/economic-commentary_06.10.2022.pdf
https://www.hilltopsecurities.com/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2022/06/economic-commentary_06.10.2022.pdf
https://www.federalreserve.gov/newsevents/pressreleases/monetary20220615b.htm
https://www.federalreserve.gov/newsevents/pressreleases/monetary20220615b.htm
https://www.cnbc.com/2022/06/22/powell-tells-congress-the-fed-is-strongly-committed-to-bringing-inflation-down.html
https://www.cnbc.com/video/2022/06/16/the-amount-of-jobs-being-created-shows-theres-not-a-recession-says-moodys-mark-zandi.html
https://www.cnbc.com/video/2022/06/16/the-amount-of-jobs-being-created-shows-theres-not-a-recession-says-moodys-mark-zandi.html
https://nypost.com/2022/06/10/inflation-costing-americans-an-extra-460-per-month-analysis/
https://nypost.com/2022/06/10/inflation-costing-americans-an-extra-460-per-month-analysis/
https://www.federalreserve.gov/newsevents/pressreleases/monetary20220615b.htm


Municipal Commentary

Page 5

The GDPNow model has been 
consistently showing a negative 
second quarter result since the end 
of June. 

We are continuing to see one of the 
best environments for municipal 
bond investing that we have seen 
when compared to others over the 
last ten years, or so. 

Leading Economic Index Down Fourth Time in Five Months

-0.4%

119.4 118.3

-6.0%

-5.0%

-4.0%

-3.0%

-2.0%

-1.0%

0.0%

1.0%

2.0%

3.0%

90

95

100

105

110

115

120

125

Jan-19 Sep-19 May-20 Jan-21 Sep-21 May-22

LEI MoM Change, -0.4% May 2022 (Right) LEI Total, 118.3 May 2022 (Left)

Source: Conference Board and HilltopSecurities.

Many observers have also been closely watching the Atlanta Fed’s GDPNow model 
to gauge the likelihood of a U.S. recession. The GDPNow model has been consistently 
showing a negative second quarter result since the end of June. 

SECOND HALF PLAYBOOK FOR MUNICIPAL INVESTORS
Among the Finest Environments for Municipal Bond Investing in Last Decade or So
Uncertainty often uncovers opportunity for investors. We are continuing to see one of 
the best environments for municipal bond investing that we have seen when compared 
to others over the last ten years, or so. We examine a few briefly below. Common themes 
among many of the historical investing opportunities usually include one or more of the 
following characteristics: 
• Economic uncertainty, 
• Asset and price volatility,  
• Favorable technical indicators, and
• Lack of liquidity in certain market segments. 

Federal Reserve policy also played an outsized role in most cases. Below we compare 
and contrast the similarities and differences amongst the municipal bond market 
opportunities in 2008, 2011, 2013, 2020 and today so investors can establish their 
playbook for investing in municipal bonds for the second half of this year.

The World Financial Crisis, 2008-2009
Financial history was shaped by the events of 2008-2009. The world turned so sharply 
that even Warren Buffett became a regular reader of The Bond Buyer. What this period is 

https://www.hilltopsecurities.com/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2022/07/economic-commentary_07.05.2022.pdf
https://www.atlantafed.org/cqer/research/gdpnow
https://www.hilltopsecurities.com/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2022/07/economic-commentary_07.05.2022.pdf


Municipal Commentary

Page 6

What this period is more commonly 
known for are the waves of negative 
major financial events between 
2008 and 2009 that are known as 
the World Financial Crisis and Great 
Recession.

Although M/T ratios (some at least) 
can still be described as somewhat 
attractive to attractive we have still 
not seen enough force that would 
cause M/T ratios to come close to the 
elevated levels we saw at the end of 
2008. 

more commonly known for are the waves of negative major financial events between 
2008 and 2009 that are known as the World Financial Crisis and Great Recession. The U.S. 
mortgage market meltdown occurred during this period as well. During this time several 
major financial firms merged, or were forced to merge. In September 2008 the Lehman 
Brothers bankruptcy (Sept 15, 2008) coincided with the more major negative financial 
market reactions. 

Municipal to Treasury (M/T) ratios were trading at relatively attractive levels, around 
100%, leading up to the Lehman bankruptcy. In the weeks after M/T ratios rose well 
above even levels we would have described as attractive levels. It was not until the end 
of 2008 that the 30-year M/T ratio peaked just over 200%. They eventually retreated 
about nine months later but this was even well after the almost $1 trillion 2009 Recovery 
Act was passed, which included the taxable direct pay Build America Bond financing 
option.

The 30 Year M/T Ratio Peaked at Just Over 200% Just After Lehman Filed

208%

50%

100%

150%

200%

250%

Jan-07 Oct-07 Jul-08 Apr-09 Jan-10 Oct-10

30 Year M/T ratio

Source: Refinitiv and HilltopSecurities.

Although M/T ratios (some at least) can still be described as somewhat attractive to 
attractive we have still not seen enough force that would cause M/T ratios to come 
close to the elevated levels we saw at the end of 2008. Municipal credit quality declined 
significantly during this time.

The Meredith Whitney Municipal Bond Selloff, 2011
At the end of 2010 Meredith Whitney, a former bank analyst, shifted her focus to the 
municipal bond market. In September 2010 she published The Tragedy of the Commons 
for her private client roster. Then at the end of December she told an interviewer that 
she expected 50-100 state and local government related defaults that would amount 
to hundreds of billions of dollars. See the State Budgets: Day of Reckoning segment for 
more details. Whitney was not the only financial pundit punching at the U.S. municipal 
bond market around this time. Bloomberg’s Joe Mysak created a timeline of some of the 
“Muni Mania” that occurred (see page 3) in his The Muni-Meltdown That Wasn’t (Nov. 

https://www.brookings.edu/research/history-credits-lehman-brothers-collapse-for-the-2008-financial-crisis-heres-why-that-narrative-is-wrong/
https://www.brookings.edu/research/history-credits-lehman-brothers-collapse-for-the-2008-financial-crisis-heres-why-that-narrative-is-wrong/
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=sFc563u2q74
https://www.bbhub.io/brief/sites/4/2016/11/MuniMeltdown_112514_final.pdf


Municipal Commentary

Page 7

Whitney was completely wrong 
about the municipal bond market. 
She was completely wrong about the 
big picture and the details. 

A defining financial event for all 
of 2013 is still known as The Taper 
Tantrum. Some may still think 
of 2013 as the year of the taper 
tantrum.

Municipal bond investors have had 
to make adjustments in 2022, but 
luckily the investing landscape for 
municipals is looking more attractive 
as we begin the second half of the 
year than it was in January. 

2014.)
Whitney was completely wrong about the municipal bond market. She was completely 
wrong about the big picture and the details. Some investors, especially retail investors, 
bought into Whitney’s advice because just before the World Financial Crisis she 
published an against-the-market analysis of Citigroup, that soon thereafter became true. 
She quickly became known as a truth-telling, oracle, and darling of Wall Street wrapped 
into one package. So, it should not be considered a surprise that some investors listened 
to her also in December of 2010 and into 2011. 

The 2011 municipal landscape is probably more well known for those municipal 
investors who maintained their positions and added to them despite the fear. The 
situation offered a buying opportunity, but relative value indicators like M/T ratios were 
no where near as attractive in 2011 as they were at the end of 2008 or even in March/
April of 2020. In 2011 M/T Ratios were mostly above 100% in the first half of the year 
(peaking around 130%), until the Debt Ceiling showdown in the summer of 2011.

The Taper Tantrum, 2013
A defining financial event for all of 2013 is still known as The Taper Tantrum. Some may 
still think of 2013 as the year of the taper tantrum. In May of that year then U.S. Federal 
Reserve chair Ben Bernanke made mention of the Fed’s intention to begin to wind down 
quantitative easing measures. He specifically said, “If we see continued improvement 
and we have confidence that that’s going to be sustained then we could in the next few 
meetings ... take a step down in our pace of purchases.” That is all it took for bond yields 
to leap.

The 30 year AAA Municipal Market Data (MMD) benchmark rose almost 150 basis points 
peaking around 4.40% in September 2013 compared to the 70 basis point increase in the 
30 year U.S. Treasury. Municipal and Treasury yields did not fall back to pre-tantrum levels 
until over a year later, around November 2014. Relative value indicators in the form of 
M/T ratios (30 year) rose from 95% to almost 120% by September then fell back down to 
the mid to high 90% range over the next year.

COVID-19, Mid-March to Mid-April 2020
From the middle of March to the middle of April of 2020 policymakers seemingly did 
everything they could do to maintain financial market stability as economic activity 
grinded to a quick halt as COVID-19 related shutdowns occurred throughout the U.S. 
This period included rapidly increasing yields, which elevated M/T ratios to among the 
highest we have seen (at over 250% in the 30 year spot) since the 2008 World Financial 
Crisis. Record amounts of money flowed out of municipal funds and liquidity was all but 
non-existent on the institutional and retail side of the municipal bond market. Municipal 
fund flow activity reversed quickly in 2020 and this positive fund flow activity continued 
through 2021. 

The U.S. Fed’s Unwind, 2022
Municipal bond investors have had to make adjustments in 2022, but luckily the 
investing landscape for municipals is looking more attractive as we begin the second 
half of the year than it was in January. We are seeing neutral to positive technical 

https://www.reuters.com/article/us-usa-fed-2013-timeline/key-events-for-the-fed-in-2013-the-year-of-the-taper-tantrum-idUSKCN1P52A8
https://www.reuters.com/article/us-usa-fed-2013-timeline/key-events-for-the-fed-in-2013-the-year-of-the-taper-tantrum-idUSKCN1P52A8
https://www.reuters.com/article/us-usa-fed-2013-timeline/key-events-for-the-fed-in-2013-the-year-of-the-taper-tantrum-idUSKCN1P52A8


Municipal Commentary

Page 8

Municipal bonds remain very 
investable right now and we think 
that is still a good way to approach 
the market landscape. 

We revised our issuance forecast 
for 2022 down to $410 billion from 
$495 billion in June. However, June 
issuance did not come close to what 
we expected. 

We are not ready to call an end to 
The Golden Age of Public Finance. It 
is under threat from hybrid work, and 
macro-economic, and political forces 
for sure. But, we expect it to last at 
least through the end of this year. 

indicators still. Some indicators are not as constructive as what we observed around May 
11 when we published Municipal Bonds are an Exceedingly Appealing Fixed Income 
Opportunity Right Now, but there are some investors putting money to work here. We 
think this makes sense. In the middle of June we also indicated that Municipals [were] 
Still Investable. This is still the case, municipal bonds remain very investable right now 
and we think that is still a good way to approach the market landscape. We may not be 
as enthusiastic as we were in the middle of May, but the argument in favor of municipals 
are still plentiful here nonetheless because of relatively higher yields and somewhat 
attractive M/T Ratios in the mid to longer range maturities. Credit quality remains very 
strong.

Supply - Municipal Bond Outlook Second Half of 2022
We revised our issuance forecast for 2022 down to $410 billion from $495 billion in June. 
However, June issuance did not come close to what we expected. Furthermore, we 
are seeing indicators that July municipal bond supply could be lower than our revised 
forecast as well. If issuance slows like it did in June for the rest of the year we could see 
annual issuance this year under $400 billion. We did note in our June revision report that 
slower issuance was a possibility, and we noted that we may have to revise our forecast 
again in August. We need to see what is happening on the ground and gauge sentiment 
before we make another revision.

Where July issuance is concerned there may be a push for issuers to get primary market 
activity done ahead of the Fed’s July 26-27 meeting, but it does not seem a significant 
amount of issuance is likely to hit the calendar for the week of July 18. Therefore, July 
issuance is likely to be around $30 billion. July of 2021 saw $37 billion and we saw $47 
billion in July 2020. A lighter amount of supply this July would be in-line with the supply 
dynamic we have seen so far in 2022.

Demand - Municipal Bond Outlook Second Half of 2022
The significant selling we have seen in municipals over the first half of 2022 has been a 
surprise. About $22 billion flowed into municipal funds in 2020 and another $66 billion 
was added in 2021. So far, through the middle of July we have seen about $47 billion 
flow out of municipal mutual funds. We think municipal bonds have been oversold over 
the first six months of 2022. We think demand is going to come back, but the numbers 
maybe not flow in as enthusiastically as they did in 2020 and 2021.

The negative flows slowed toward the end of June and into July. On Thursday July 14 
we saw $206 billion flow into municipal funds, per Lipper data. This was the first positive 
flow number we have seen since June 2. We have only seen five weeks (out of 28) this 
year where municipal flows were positive.

HTS Still Expects Public Finance Upgrades to Outpace Downgrades in 2022
We are not ready to call an end to The Golden Age of Public Finance. It is under threat 
from hybrid work, and macro-economic, and political forces for sure. But, we expect it 
to last at least through the end of this year. We raised our credit sector outlooks for state 
and local government, and school districts at the beginning of the year in REVISED: 
The Municipal Market in 2022, Due to the COVID-19 Paradigm Shift to “positive” from 

https://www.hilltopsecurities.com/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2022/06/municipal-commentary_6.13.22.pdf
https://www.hilltopsecurities.com/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2022/06/municipal-commentary_6.13.22.pdf
https://www.hilltopsecurities.com/insight/tom-kozlik-reaffirms-state-and-local-governments-are-due-for-the-golden-age-of-public-finance/
https://www.hilltopsecurities.com/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2022/05/municipal-commentary_5.11.22.pdf
https://www.hilltopsecurities.com/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2022/05/municipal-commentary_5.11.22.pdf
https://www.hilltopsecurities.com/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2022/06/municipal-commentary_6.14.22.pdf
https://www.hilltopsecurities.com/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2022/06/municipal-commentary_6.14.22.pdf
https://www.hilltopsecurities.com/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2022/06/municipal-commentary_6.13.22.pdf
https://www.hilltopsecurities.com/insight/tom-kozlik-reaffirms-state-and-local-governments-are-due-for-the-golden-age-of-public-finance/
https://www.hilltopsecurities.com/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2022/02/municipal-commentary_2.7.22.pdf
https://www.hilltopsecurities.com/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2022/02/municipal-commentary_2.7.22.pdf


Municipal Commentary

Page 9

This year there will be more positive 
upgrade activity in the tax backed 
versus the revenue backed sub-
sectors. 

The paper/commentary was prepared by HilltopSecurities (HTS). It is intended for informational purposes only and does not 
constitute legal or investment advice, nor is it an offer or a solicitation of an offer to buy or sell any investment or other specific 
product. Information provided in this paper was obtained from sources that are believed to be reliable; however, it is not guaranteed 
to be correct, complete, or current, and is not intended to imply or establish standards of care applicable to any attorney or advisor in 
any particular circumstances. The statements within constitute the views of HTS as of the date of the document and may differ from 
the views of other divisions/departments of affiliate Hilltop Securities Inc. In addition, the views are subject to change without notice. 
This paper represents historical information only and is not an indication of future performance. This material has not been prepared 
in accordance with the guidelines or requirements to promote investment research, it is not a research report and is not intended as 
such. Sources available upon request.

Hilltop Securities Inc. is a registered broker-dealer, registered investment adviser and municipal advisor firm that does not provide 
tax or legal advice. HTS is a wholly owned subsidiary of Hilltop Holdings, Inc. (NYSE: HTH) located at 717 N. Harwood St., Suite 3400, 
Dallas, Texas 75201, (214) 859-1800, 833-4HILLTOP

© 2022 Hilltop Securities Inc. | All rights reserved | MEMBER: NYSE/FINRA/SIPC

“stable”.  We still expect public finance upgrades to outpace downgrades in the second 
half of 2022, mostly because of the substantial fiscal policy aid that flowed to almost the 
entire U.S. public finance sector. This year there will be more positive upgrade activity in 
the tax backed versus the revenue backed sub-sectors. Political pressure could develop 
into credit deterioration depending upon what happens in the macro-economic 
environment in upcoming years, as we indicated in the first section of this commentary, 
however.

Public Finance Upgrades Massively Outpaced Downgrades in 2021

517

296

817

89

-255

-309

-307

-25

-1,000

-800

-600

-400

-200

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1989 1992 1995 1998 2001 2004 2007 2010 2013 2016 2019 2022

Moody's Public Finance Upgrades (#) Moody's Public Finance Downgrades (#)

Upgradesoutnumbered 
downgrades in 2021

Public finance sector downgrades outpaces 
upgrades fro 2009-2014

Source: Moody’s and HilltopSecurities.

Recent HilltopSecurities Municipal Commentary
• Municipals Still Investable in Front of Fed's June 2022 Announcement, June 14, 2022
• REVISED: Our 2022 Municipal Bond Issuance Forecast, June 13, 2022
• School District Credit Quality is Strong, Former Mayor Bloomberg is Overreaching, 

June 2, 2022
• Voters Want Normalcy – This is Not It – More Political Change is Likely, May 31, 2022

Readers may view all of the HilltopSecurities Municipal Commentary here.

https://www.hilltopsecurities.com/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2022/06/municipal-commentary_6.14.22.pdf
https://www.hilltopsecurities.com/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2022/06/municipal-commentary_6.13.22.pdf
https://www.hilltopsecurities.com/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2022/06/municipal-commentary_6.2.22.pdf
https://www.hilltopsecurities.com/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2022/05/municipal-commentary_5.31.22_rev.pdf
https://www.hilltopsecurities.com/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2022/05/Ted-Chapman-commentary_5.2022.pdf
https://www.hilltopsecurities.com/public-finance/municipal-commentary/




 
 

THIS DOCUMENT AND THE RECOMMENDATIONS INCLUDED HEREIN ARE FOR INFORMATIONAL PURPOSES ONLY. 
Please see the Legal Disclaimer and Important Disclosure information on the last page of this report for disclosures relating to potential conflicts of interest. 
Oppenheimer & Co. Inc. does and seeks to do business with companies (or entities) covered in its research reports. The securities mentioned in this report may be 
speculative in nature and involve risk to principal and interest payments. 

1 of 6 

 

 

 

Oppenheimer & Co. Inc.   85 Broad Street   New York, NY 10004   Tel: 800-221-5588   Fax: 212-667-5925 

Jeffrey Lipton 
Managing Director, Head of Municipal Research 
Fixed Income Research 
(212) 667-5365 
jeffrey.lipton@opco.com 
 

July 27, 2022 

Municipal Market Comments 
 

 

Feeling The Muni Heat 

We are now well into the summer months and many parts of the country are experiencing uncomfortably high 
temperatures. Market participants are juggling their summer vacations while managing their financial asset 
exposures during these uncertain times. Believe it or not, another FOMC meeting is concluding and this one 
will likely be one of the more impactful for the year. Futures contracts are placing the easy money on a second 
75 basis point hike in the fed funds rate, bringing it to a new range of 2.25% - 2.5%. Of course, the 
accompanying statement language may provide some us eful guidance, but the real direction should 
derive from Chair Powell’s post-meeting press confe rence and we will be sure to listen attentively as this 
meeting will not come with a summary of economic projections.  

Consistent with our ongoing narrative, the Chair’s messaging must be carefully scripted with almost every word 
considered for market reaction. While the Fed strongly desires to avert recession, it will nevertheless 
deploy all policy tools necessary to bring inflatio n under control in order to fulfill its prime direc tive of 
price stability.  We have made no secret of our overall support of Fe d policy actions conducted to date 
and we are much appreciative of the Central Bank’s commitment to a routine of transparent 
communication.  Whether one believes that the Fed was slow to deter  runaway inflation, there is now 
widespread concurrence that Chair Powell and team h ave fashioned a sufficiently aggressive 
tightening sequence that is already constraining, a lbeit unevenly, demand and tempering inflationary 
pressure.  

Certainly, there has been no shortage of recession speak with the discourse resonating loudly in the absence 
of any Central Banker commentary during the present blackout period. Our readership recognizes that we 
have distanced ourselves from the popular recession mantra, yet we do have an appreciation for the 
complexities involved in the identification of a recession. Conventionally, the accepted textbook “technical” 
definition of recession is two consecutive quarters of negative GDP, but as we discussed in a recent edition of 
our Basis Points,  the official pronouncement must be rendered by the National Bureau of Economic 
Research (NBER).  

 

 



 

2 of 6 

 

Let’s recall that the third and final print for Q1GDP showed a 1.6% contraction in the annualized rate. Following 
this week’s FOMC meeting, the preliminary release for Q2 GDP is expected to show 0.4% annualized growth 
as the economy is evidencing a reduction in consumption and spending activity. A formal declaration of 
recession from the NBER, comprised of an eight-person panel of esteemed academics, typically comes when 
the nation is already entrenched in a down cycle. While we do not expect such action from the NBER 
anytime soon, the textbook or “technical” guidance could reflect a recession should we receive 
enough of a downside miss in the GDP forecast this week. The last recession occurred between February 
and April 2020 as COVID-19 effectively shut down our economy and we have repeatedly expressed the 
unprecedented circumstances involved.  

The emergence from one of the shortest recessions o n record (possibly the shortest) has also been 
chaperoned by extremely unprecedented circumstances  as both monetary and fiscal policies quickly 
infused heavy doses of liquidity and stimulus into the economy with multiple backstops in support of 
financial assets.  The point here is that we are dealing with unique e vents and so it is challenging to 
advance recessionary projections based upon histori cal framework.   

Although our base case does not forecast recession between now and at least through the first half of 2023, 
we must be prepared to acknowledge the arrival of the textbook definition for recession. From our perch, we 
are reluctant to place disproportionate reliance up on the two consecutive quarterly contractions 
scenario, as we prefer to consider a broader basket  of economic data points and activity.  

We believe that our expertise in municipal credit analysis affords us with a unique and insightful perspective on 
the economy and we can incorporate a cross-section of sectors and regional trends into our calculus. 
Consumer and corporate balance sheets remain in good shape and while consumer goods spending is 
slowing, service related activity shows consistently strong demand. We continue to exhibit a robust labor 
market with low unemployment, there is no looming financial institution crisis, personal income levels remain 
favorable, and from our view, we do not foresee any sector-wide bubbles that could undermine our economic 
integrity. Thus, while we could see a negative GDP for Q2, we would argue that many areas of the 
economy continue to expand. If it doesn’t look like  a recession, smell like a recession, and act like a 
recession, then it probably isn’t a recession.  

We must also recognize that declines in car sales and for other purchases may reflect outsized price advances 
driven more by supply chain disruptions and less by substantive drops in consumer spending preferences. As 
pricing hopefully normalizes with abating inflation ary pressure, we would expect to see more typical 
demand patterns and with the strong demand for serv ices, we are not convinced that spending would 
decline to levels more consistent with recessionary  indications. It was not that long ago when the markets 
were obsessing over inflationary expectations, and now they are fixated on the Fed’s tightening cycle and its 
impact on economic growth. The shape of the Treasury yield curve continues to portend recession with 
demand for longer-tenor securities becoming less co nflicted given ebbing inflationary forces and 
advancing concern over economic growth.    

During his post-meeting press conference, we expect  Chair Powell to acknowledge a softening in 
certain key data points, yet he can still cite the overall strength of our national economy. One area that 



 

3 of 6 

he should address is the state of the housing secto r given some recent evidence of cooling activity 
attributable to a doubling of mortgage rates and 20 % year-over-year escalations in home prices. 
Overall, our support for a second 75 basis point hike in the  funds rate this week, as opposed to a 100 
basis point lift, should align with a less hawkish tone throughout Mr. Powell’s press conference.  
Perhaps he will address the Central Bank’s outlook regarding corporate hiring activity and expectations for 
unemployment insurance claims with the latter migrating upward, and of course the outsized June CPI print 
cannot be ignored, which is sufficient justification for a 75 basis point boost in the funds rate.    

Against this backdrop, we are by no means suggesting that the end of the Fed’s tightening sequence is upon 
us. In fact, there is plenty of work to do in order for monetary  policy to curb excess demand in the 
system, although we believe that much of the heavy lifting is behind us with the bond market providing  
assistance to the Fed. Although recession is not a desired outcome for the Fed, failing to gain contro l 
over runaway inflation could have greater adverse c onsequences for the economy.   

Of course, we must recognize that the Fed yields no control over the inflationary elements brought about from 
COVID and geopolitical driven supply chain dislocations and this is a worrisome reality. Yet we would mention 
that a cooling housing sector with softening demand coul d provide some degree of supply chain relief, 
thus curbing some cost inflation in the housing mar ket and returning the sector closer to equilibrium.   

Looking at the futures contracts before going to press, a 50 basis point boost in the funds rate is anticipated at 
the September meeting with smaller jumps expected at the final two meetings of the year, bringing the implied 
rate to 3.405% (at the moment) at year-end. A policy reversal is currently being priced in beginning in February 
2023 as the Fed is expected to ease policy in order to ignite economic growth with an implied funds rate of 
2.86% (at the moment) by the end of next year.  

While Treasury market volatility was more pronounced ahead of the FOMC meeting, munis managed to firm up 
with 3 to 5 basis point bumps along much of the curve on Tuesday. It was only late last week when munis 
underperformed a UST rally. Muni participants are not without worries over the Fed’s tightening 
campaign, but cyclical forces and strong fundamenta ls have catalyzed positive returns for July, with 
the asset class doubling the returns shown for UST securities month-to-date.   

With the outperformance booked by munis, relative v alue ratios have become more expensive with 
shorter maturities still the richest.  The 10 and 30-year benchmarks presently stand at 84% and 98% 
respectively and while munis have moved further away from fair value, relative value remains far more 
compelling today compared with the more expensive ratios that existed throughout 2021. Given the looming 
FOMC meeting this week, it was not a surprise to ha ve a very light calendar, in fact the smallest of t he 
year so far, as issuers often display caution ahead  of a rate decision.  

Demand for muni product has been strong this summer  and we expect market technicals to remain 
supportive through August with a likely continuatio n of positive performance. We suspect that as 
recessionary concerns intensify, a sustainable flig ht-to-quality trade should emerge with munis well 
positioned to offer investors a predictable revenue  stream of tax-exempt income. A repositioning of 
deployable cash into longer dated maturities may of fer strategic value with more attractive total retu rn 
should rates revert to lower ground, and so we sugg est that curve extensions may be appropriate for 
those investors relatively unhindered by duration r isk.  



 

4 of 6 

As we think about spread activity, there has been s ome noted thinning among the weaker investment 
grade and high yield cohorts.  We note that month-to-date, muni high-yield is outperforming the broader 
index with respective returns of 2.87% and 2.0% respectively. We posit that high-yield spreads could 
continue to narrow with potentially stronger perfor mance through year-end.  

Although fund flows returned to negative during the  last reported period, we continue to believe that 
stronger market conviction and less inflationary st ress will temper the pace of outflows and likely 
produce a cycle of intermittent inflows or perhaps even a sustained period of positive flows. While 
there may still be somewhat active bid wanted activ ity, we expect institutional selling pressure to 
subside with the availability of better relative va lue along the long end of the curve.   

Although long dated muni yields have come down from  their YTD highs, the 30-year AAA benchmark is 
still about 150 basis points higher than where it w as at the beginning of the year. We expect short 
ratios, which have become extremely rich, to cheape n up later this year or during the first quarter of  
2023 as inflationary concerns ease and the higher r ate bias subsides and possibly shifts course, thus 
potentially underperforming the overall market. Sho uld this scenario come to fruition, we would expect  
to see some curve flattening as front-end strength steepened the muni slope.   

In our view, there is a compelling list of muni tai l winds that provide fertile ground to extend the J uly 
performance momentum. Entry points are now attracti ve with munis poised to recover even more of 
their year-to-date losses, although it would be a r each to end the year in positive territory.  Greater 
comfort with Fed policy actions can make fixed inco me investment more compelling for those anxious 
investors starving for directional guidance and can  pave the way for heavier allocations of capital in to 
the muni asset class.   

While one could argue that muni credit has peaked, the asset class enters a possible recession with 
strong fundamental attributes, which can be relied upon to augment portfolio performance and 
resiliency. Of course, we must be mindful that vola tility and declining valuations within the equity 
markets may pressure pension funding requirements f or certain issuers, and tax collections will likely  
reveal mixed performance as national and regional g rowth metrics weaken.  

 

  

   

 

    

 

 

 

 



 

5 of 6 

 

Important Disclosures and Certifications 

Analyst Certification –- The author certifies that this research report accurately states his/her personal views about the 
subject securities, which are reflected in the ratings as well as in the substance of this report. The author certifies that no 
part of his/her compensation was, is, or will be directly or indirectly related to the specific recommendations or views 
contained in this research report. 

 
Oppenheimer Credit Rating System:  
Rating Description 

Outperform (OP) The analyst thinks that the security will outperform the average total 
return of similar securities over the next 6 – 12 months. 

Market Perform 
(MP) 

The analyst thinks that the security will match the average total return of 
similar securities over the next 6 – 12 months. 

Underperform (UP) The analyst thinks that the security will underperform the average total 
return of similar securities over the next 6 – 12 months. 

Not Rated: (NR) Oppenheimer does not rate the security. 

 

Conflicts of Interest - Oppenheimer & Co. Inc.’s fixed income research analysts are compensated from revenues 
generated by various Oppenheimer & Co. Inc. businesses including the Oppenheimer & Co. Inc. Investment Banking 
Department, Taxable Fixed Income Capital Markets Department and Municipal Capital Markets Group. Research 
analysts do not receive compensation based upon revenues from specific investment banking transactions, specific 
sales and trading transactions or on revenues derived from investment banking services provided to a specific issuer or 
industry sector. Oppenheimer & Co. Inc. generally prohibits any research analyst and any member of his or her 
household from executing trades in the securities of a company (or entity) that such research analyst covers. 
Additionally, Oppenheimer & Co. Inc. generally prohibits any research analyst from serving as an officer, director or 
advisory board member of a company (or entity) that such analyst covers. 

Oppenheimer & Co. Inc. trades as principal the fixed income securities (or related derivatives) that are the subject of this 
research report and may at any time have proprietary positions in the securities (or related derivatives) that are the 
subject of this research report.  Oppenheimer & Co. Inc. may have a long or short position or deal as principal in the 
securities discussed herein, related securities or in options, futures or other derivative instruments based thereon. 

Oppenheimer & Co. Inc. has or may seek to have an investment banking, underwriting, advisory, lending or other credit 
relationship with the company (or entity) that is the subject of this report., This may at times give rise to potential 
conflicts of interest. 

This report does not take into account the investment objectives, financial situation or specific needs of any particular 
client of Oppenheimer & Co. Inc. or any particular investor. The securities mentioned in this report may be thinly traded; 
their prices, value and/or income they produce may be subject to extreme volatility. These debt securities are not 
suitable for all types of investors. Investors that are not “Qualified Institutional Buyers” or “QIBs” (as defined in SEC 
144A) should not purchase or sell any of the securities mentioned herein without contacting a financial adviser in such 
investor’s jurisdiction to discuss the investors particular circumstances. 

This report is based on public information. Oppenheimer & Co. Inc. makes every effort to use reliable, comprehensive 
information, but Oppenheimer & Co. Inc. makes no representation that it is accurate or complete. All estimates, opinions 
and recommendations expressed herein constitute judgments of the Oppenheimer & Co. Inc.’s research analyst as of 
the date of this report and are subject to change without notice. Oppenheimer & Co. Inc. has no obligation to update this 
report. No statement contained in this report should be misinterpreted as a guarantee of the future performance of any 
recommended securities. 

This research contains the views, opinions and recommendations of Oppenheimer & Co. Inc. fixed income research 
analysts. Research analysts routinely consult with Oppenheimer & Co. Inc. trading desk personnel in formulating views, 
opinions and recommendations in preparing research. Trading desks may trade or have traded as principal on the basis 
of research analysts’ views and reports. Therefore, this research may not be independent from the proprietary interests 
of Oppenheimer & Co. Inc. trading desks, which may conflict with an investor’s interests. In addition, while research 
analysts do not receive compensation based on any specific investment banking transactions, specific sales and trading 
transactions or on revenues derived from investment banking services provided to a specific issuer or industry sector, 



 

6 of 6 

research analysts do receive compensation based, in part, on the quality and accuracy of their analysis, client feedback, 
trading desk and firm revenues, and competitive factors.. 

This report is provided for informational purposes only, and does not constitute an offer or solicitation to buy or sell any 
securities discussed herein in any jurisdiction where such offer or solicitation would be prohibited. 

To the extent this report references municipal securities, investors should consult with their tax or accounting advisor(s) 
regarding the suitability of tax-exempt investments in their portfolio as Oppenheimer & Co. Inc. does not offer tax or 
accounting advice. Income generated from investments in municipal securities may be subject to state and local taxes 
as well as the Alternative Minimum Tax. Municipal securities are subject to gains/losses based on the level of interest 
rates, market conditions and credit quality of the issuer. Non-rated municipal bonds or municipal bonds rated below 
investment grade are speculative in nature and may not be suitable for all investors. 

This research is distributed in the UK and elsewhere throughout Europe, as third party research by Oppenheimer 
Europe Ltd, which is authorized and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA).  This research is for 
information purposes only and is not to be construed as a solicitation or an offer to purchase or sell investments or 
related financial instruments.  This research is for distribution only to persons who are eligible counterparties or 
professional clients and is exempt from the general restrictions in section 21 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 
2000 on the communication of invitations or inducements to engage in investment activity on the grounds that it is being 
distributed in the UK only to persons of a kind described in Article 19(5) (Investment Professionals) and 49(2) (Financial 
Promotion) Order 2005 (as amended).  It is not intended to be distributed or passed on, directly or indirectly, to any 
other class of persons.  In particular, this material is not for distribution to, and should not be relied upon by, retail 
clients, as defined under the rules of the FCA.  Neither the FCA’s protection rules nor compensation scheme may be 
applied. 

Distribution in Hong Kong:  This report is prepared for professional investors and is being distributed in Hong Kong by 
Oppenheimer Investments Asia Limited (OIAL) to persons whose business involves the acquisition, disposal or holding 
of securities, whether as principal or agent.  OIAL, an affiliate of Oppenheimer & Co. Inc., is regulated by the Securities 
and Futures Commission for the conduct of dealing in securities and advising on securities. For professional investors in 
Hong Kong, please contact researchasia@opco for all matters and queries relating to this report.  

This report or any portion hereof may not be reprinted, sold, or redistributed without the written consent of Oppenheimer 
& Co. Inc. Copyright © Oppenheimer & Co. Inc. 2022. 

Oppenheimer & Co. Inc. transacts business on all principal exchanges. 

Additional Information Available 

Please log on to http://www.opco.com or write to Oppenheimer & Co. Inc. 85  Broad Street, New York, NY 10004, Attn: Municipal 
Research 

 
 

 

 

 

 



STATE OF MINNESOTA 
 

IN SUPREME COURT 
 

A20-1637 
 
Court of Appeals Moore, III, J. 

Concurring in Part, Dissenting in Part, Gildea, C.J.,  
Anderson, Hudson, JJ. 

 
City of Circle Pines 
 

Appellant, 
 
vs. Filed: July 20, 2022 
 Office of Appellate Courts 
County of Anoka, 
 
   Respondent. 

________________________ 
 
Shelley M. Ryan, Hoff Barry, P.A., Eden Prairie, Minnesota, for appellant. 
 
Anthony C. Palumbo, Anoka County Attorney, Robert I. Yount, Assistant County 
Attorney, Hannah Schacherl, Certified Student Attorney, Anoka, Minnesota, for 
respondent. 
 
David K. Snyder, Johnson/Turner Legal, Forest Lake, MN, for amicus curiae City of Hugo. 
 
Robert A. Alsop, Scott J. Riggs, Kennedy & Graven, Chartered, Minneapolis, MN, for 
amicus curiae City of Mounds View. 
 
Louis N. Smith, Smith Partners, PLLP, Minneapolis, MN, for amicus curiae Minnesota 
Association of Watershed Districts, Inc. 
 

________________________ 
 

S Y L L A B U S 
 

1. Minnesota Statutes section 103D.311, subdivision 3(a) (2020), requires 

counties to appoint managers to watershed districts wholly within the metropolitan area from 



2 
 

an aggregate list of city-submitted nominees, unless the total number of nominees is less than 

three or the county finds that none of the nominated persons can fairly represent the various 

hydrologic areas within the watershed district, under Minnesota Statutes section 103D.311, 

subdivision 3(c) (2020). 

2. A remand is necessary to allow the district court to determine, under the proper 

standard, whether the disputed manager appointed by the county was nominated by a city, 

and whether the county considered the city nominees’ ability to fairly represent the various 

hydrologic areas within the watershed district.  

 Reversed and remanded.   

O P I N I O N 

MOORE, III, Justice. 

 This case requires us to interpret Minnesota Statutes section 103D.311 (2020), 

which governs the appointment of watershed district managers, to determine whether the 

County of Anoka followed the proper procedure in reappointing City of Columbus resident 

Patricia Preiner to the Rice Creek Watershed District board of managers.  The issue arises 

from an appeal of cross-motions for summary judgment in an injunction and declaratory 

judgment action brought against the County by the City of Circle Pines challenging 

Preiner’s reappointment.  Circle Pines asked the district court to hold that the County 

violated the statutory process when it reappointed Preiner, while the County requested that 

the district court uphold its reappointment decision.   

The district court denied Circle Pines’s motion and granted the County’s motion for 

summary judgment, agreeing with the County that the statute unambiguously allows the 



3 
 

County the discretion to appoint a manager from any city that fails to submit a list of 

nominees.  The court of appeals affirmed, and this appeal follows.  We conclude that the 

watershed district manager appointment statute is ambiguous.  The legislative history and 

purpose of the statute support the position that, when there are three or more total city 

nominees, a county must make an appointment from the city nominees unless it finds that 

those nominees cannot fairly represent the various hydrologic areas within the watershed 

district, under section 103D.311, subdivision 3(c).  We therefore reverse and remand. 

FACTS 

Watershed districts are governed by the Minnesota Watershed Law, codified at 

Minnesota Statutes sections 103D.001–.925 (2020).  The Minnesota Watershed Law was 

originally enacted in 1955, Adelman v. Onischuk, 135 N.W.2d 670, 673 (Minn. 1965), and 

was recodified, reclarified, and relocated under chapter 103D in 1990, Act of April 6, 1990, 

ch. 391, 1990 Minn. Laws 354, 446–508.  Watershed districts were established “to develop 

and manage uniform and integrated programs of water use in separate areas.”  Adelman, 

135 N.W.2d at 673.  Some responsibilities of watershed districts include managing water 

quality in public waters, working to “maintain and improve water quality in lakes and 

rivers,” and “harmonizing competing demands for development, recreational use, and 

conservation.”  25 Larry M. Wertheim, Minnesota Practice–Real Estate Law § 8:19 

(2021-2022 ed.); see also Minn. Stat. § 103D.201 (declaring the purposes of watershed 

districts).   

 



4 
 

Several types of watershed districts exist under the statute and can be categorized 

by geographic area—metropolitan area1 and non-metropolitan area—and by method of 

establishment—county-initiated, city-initiated, or resident-initiated.2  Metropolitan area 

districts and city-initiated districts share the similarity that the first governing board of 

these districts is appointed from a list of persons nominated by the cities within the district.  

Minn. Stat. § 103D.225, subd. 4(a–b).  Metropolitan area districts often have added 

requirements or expanded statutory authority.  See, e.g., Minn. Stat. § 103D.251 (giving 

metropolitan area districts additional statutory authority for changing their boundaries 

under §§ 103B.215 and 103B.225). 

Each district is governed by a board of at least three (or, in metropolitan areas, five) 

but no more than nine managers.  Minn. Stat. § 103D.225, subd. 4(a).  In districts involving 

more than one county, “managers [must be] distributed by residence among the counties 

affected by the watershed district.”  Minn. Stat. § 103D.301, subd. 1.  Minnesota Statutes 

section 103D.311 governs the appointment of managers to watershed district boards.  The 

statute outlines manager eligibility requirements in subdivision 1, a timeline and open 

appointments process in subdivision 2, a special nomination process for city-initiated and 

 
1 Minnesota Statutes section 103D.011, subdivision 16, defines metropolitan area by 
cross referencing Minnesota Statutes section 473.121, subdivision 2 (2020), which defines 
it as “the area over which the Metropolitan Council has jurisdiction,” including Anoka, 
Carver, Dakota, Hennepin, Ramsey, Scott, and Washington counties, with the exclusion of 
certain cities within those counties. 
 
2 Watershed districts can be established by a petition signed by one-half or more of 
the counties in the proposed district, by counties with one-half or more of the area in the 
proposed district, by a majority of cities in the proposed district, or by 50 or more resident 
owners in the proposed district.  Minn. Stat. § 103D.205, subd. 3. 



5 
 

metropolitan area districts in subdivision 3, and a record-keeping requirement in 

subdivision 4. 

The main controversy in this case involves the County of Anoka’s (the County) 

reappointment of Patricia Preiner to the Rice Creek Watershed District board of managers 

under section 103D.311, subdivision 3, after her term expired on January 17, 2020.  The 

statute reads as follows: 

Nominees for city-initiated and metropolitan watershed districts.  (a) If 
the establishment petition that initiated the watershed district originated from 
a majority of the cities within the watershed district, the county 
commissioners must appoint the managers from a list of persons nominated 
by one or more of the townships and municipalities located within the 
watershed district.  If the district is wholly within the metropolitan area, the 
county commissioners shall appoint the managers from a list of persons 
nominated jointly or severally by the towns and municipalities within the 
district.  The list must contain at least three nominees for each manager’s 
position to be filled.  The list must be submitted to the county boards affected 
by the watershed district at least 60 days before the manager’s term of office 
expires.  The county commissioners may appoint any managers from towns 
and municipalities that fail to submit a list of nominees. 
 
(b) If the list is not submitted 60 days before the managers’ terms of office 
expire, the county commissioners must appoint the managers from eligible 
persons residing in the watershed district. 
 
(c) Managers of a watershed district entirely within the metropolitan area 
must be appointed to fairly represent the various hydrologic areas within the 
watershed district by residence of the manager appointed. 
 

Minn. Stat. § 103D.311, subd. 3.   

The Rice Creek Watershed District (the District) is a metropolitan area watershed 

district spanning approximately 185 square miles of rural and urban land located entirely 

in Anoka, Ramsey, Washington, and Hennepin Counties.  The District is governed by a 

Board of Managers made up of five managers appointed by the county boards of 



6 
 

commissioners for Anoka, Ramsey, and Washington Counties.  Anoka and Ramsey 

Counties appoint two managers each, while Washington County appoints one manager.3 

The District is divided into five hydrologic areas, and the managers must “fairly 

represent the various hydrologic areas within the watershed district by residence of the 

manager appointed.”  Minn. Stat. § 103D.311, subd. 3(c).  As of 2019, each District 

manager resided in a different hydrologic area.  The two managers appointed by Anoka 

County resided in area three and area four: Patricia Preiner, whose term expired in January 

2020, in area three; and Steve Wagamon, whose term expired in January 2022, in area four.  

Both Preiner and Wagamon reside in the City of Columbus (Columbus).  Columbus covers 

land in areas three and four, while the City of Circle Pines (Circle Pines) covers a small 

amount of land in areas four and five. 

In September 2019, the County notified all nine cities in its part of the District of an 

upcoming manager vacancy at the expiration of Preiner’s term.  Circle Pines submitted a 

resolution to the County nominating three residents to the open position on October 31, 

2019.  Columbus submitted a letter to the County supporting the reappointment of Preiner 

on October 29, 2019.4  The County received both submissions more than 60 days prior to 

 
3 Although the District includes a small amount of Hennepin County, it is not enough 
to justify appointment of a manager residing in that area. 
 
4 Columbus stated in its letter that it decided not to submit a list of three eligible 
nominees but rather a letter of support for Preiner “due to her wealth of knowledge of 
watershed matters and years of leadership experience on the Rice Creek Watershed Board.” 
 



7 
 

the expiration of Preiner’s term.  None of the other seven cities in the County’s part of the 

District submitted nominees or sent letters about the open position.  

The County board of commissioners met 30 days before the expiration of Preiner’s 

term, on December 17, 2019, with the intention of appointing a manager.  During the 

meeting, the commissioners discussed the submissions from the cities of Circle Pines and 

Columbus.  Two commissioners noted that, other than Circle Pines and Columbus, no other 

city submitted nominees to the County for the manager position.  Anoka County, December 

17, 2019 Board Meeting, https://northmetrotv.com/schedulewithondemand/ (search 

“Anoka County Board Meeting 12/17/2019”) at 01:06:49, 01:11:30.5  Ultimately, the 

County voted to postpone the appointment after a disagreement with Circle Pines about the 

appointment process, and the appointment appeared on its meeting agenda for June.   

In anticipation of the impending appointment at the County’s June meeting, Circle 

Pines filed an action against the County under Minnesota Statutes section 103D.551,6 

seeking a temporary restraining order, a temporary injunction, and a declaratory judgment 

to prevent the County from reappointing Preiner and instead interpreting the statute as 

requiring the County to appoint a manager from Circle Pines’s list of nominees.  The 

district court denied the requested temporary restraining order on June 8, 2020, finding that 

 
5  See In re Reissuance of an NPDES/SDS Permit to U.S. Steel Corp., 954 N.W.2d 
572, 581 n.8 (Minn. 2021) (noting that even when information is not included in the record, 
“we are empowered to take judicial notice of public records” and consider those records 
when justice requires it).   
 
6 Section 103D.551 gives the district court authority to enforce the provisions of 
chapter 103D by injunction or other appropriate order. 
 



8 
 

Circle Pines failed to show irreparable harm.  The County voted to reappoint Preiner at its 

June 9, 2020 board meeting.7  

Circle Pines and the County filed cross-motions for summary judgment.  On 

October 28, 2020, the district court ruled in favor of the County and upheld Preiner’s 

reappointment.  In its findings of fact, the district court found that Circle Pines was the 

only city to submit a list of three nominees for Preiner’s position; the court noted that 

Columbus sent a letter of support for Preiner but found that it “did not submit a list of 

candidates.”  The district court agreed with the County that the appointment statute 

unambiguously gave the County discretion to appoint a manager from any city that did not 

submit a list of nominees, notwithstanding the existence of a list of nominees submitted by 

another city in the District.  The district court found that because the only city to submit a 

list was Circle Pines, the County could appoint a manager either from Circle Pines’s list of 

nominees or from eligible residents of any other city, and the County validly appointed 

Preiner.  The court of appeals affirmed the decision and reasoning of the district court.  City 

of Circle Pines v. County of Anoka, No. A20-1637, 2021 WL 2528449, at *3 (Minn. App. 

Jun. 21, 2021). 

ANALYSIS 

This case requires us to determine when, under Minnesota Statutes 

section 103D.311, subdivision 3, a county must appoint a metropolitan area watershed 

 
7  A motion to postpone the reappointment failed, although three of the seven 
commissioners voted in favor of that motion.  The reappointment vote passed with five of 
the seven commissioners voting in favor of reappointment. 



9 
 

district manager from nominees submitted by cities, and when it has discretion to disregard 

city-submitted nominees.  We have not had previous occasion to examine and construe the 

provisions within section 103D.311, subdivision 3, governing the appointment of 

metropolitan area watershed district managers. 

According to Circle Pines, subdivision 3(a) requires a county to appoint managers 

from a list or lists of nominees submitted by the cities.  A county can only appoint managers 

from outside a valid city list or lists if it finds that the nominees on the list(s) cannot fairly 

represent the various hydrologic areas as required by subdivision 3(c).  Each individual 

city can submit a separate list, but to be valid, Circle Pines contends, each separate list must 

contain at least three nominees.  In contrast, the County contends that it is bound by 

city-submitted lists of nominees only if all cities in the district nominate candidates; 

otherwise, a county has discretion to appoint either a city nominee or an eligible resident 

from a city that did not submit nominations.  Each individual city can submit a separate list 

of any number of nominees, the County contends, and to be valid, the aggregate list of all 

city nominees must contain at least three nominees.   

Circle Pines argues that the County violated the statutory requirements because it 

appointed Preiner—who it asserts was not validly nominated by any city—without first 

determining that Circle Pines’s three validly nominated candidates could not fairly represent 

the various hydrologic areas.  Circle Pines asks us to hold that the County’s appointment of 

Preiner was invalid and to require the County to make fair representation findings about 

Circle Pines’s nominees before appointing a manager.  The County defends the decisions of 

the district court and court of appeals, requesting we affirm Preiner’s appointment as valid. 



10 
 

We review summary judgment decisions de novo to determine if the district court 

erred in its application of the law.  McBee v. Team Indus., Inc., 925 N.W.2d 222, 227 (Minn. 

2019).  In granting summary judgment for the County, the district court interpreted and 

applied section 103D.311, subdivision 3.  Statutory interpretation is a question of law that 

we review de novo.  500, LLC v. City of Minneapolis, 837 N.W.2d 287, 290 (Minn. 2013).   

I. 

We first address the interpretation of section 103D.311, subdivision 3, including what 

requirements it places on counties appointing managers to metropolitan area watershed 

districts.  The goal of statutory interpretation is to “ascertain and effectuate the intention of 

the legislature.”  Minn. Stat. § 645.16 (2020).  When interpreting a statute, we first determine 

whether the language of the statute is clear on its face.  Christianson v. Henke, 831 N.W.2d 

532, 536 (Minn. 2013).  We read words and phrases in the statute according to “rules of 

grammar” and to “their common and approved usage.”  Minn. Stat. § 645.08(1) (2020).   

Additionally, we interpret a statute to “give effect to all its provisions,” Minn. Stat. 

§ 645.16, reading parts of a statute together to determine the plain meaning, Christianson, 

831 N.W.2d at 537.  And we attempt as much as possible to interpret the statute “in a manner 

that renders no part of it meaningless.”  State v. Wilson, 830 N.W.2d 849, 853 (Minn. 2013).  

If we determine that the plain language of the statute is clear, we apply that language directly.  

Staab v. Diocese of St. Cloud, 853 N.W.2d 713, 716–717 (Minn. 2014).  

But “[w]hen the Legislature’s intent is not clearly discernible from the explicit words 

of the statute,” we must look to other tools to interpret its meaning.  Hansen v. Robert Half 

Int’l, Inc., 813 N.W.2d 906, 915 (Minn. 2012).  Such tools include “the occasion and 



11 
 

necessity for the law, the object to be attained, and the consequences of a particular 

interpretation.”  In re Welfare of Children of N.F., 749 N.W.2d 802, 807 (Minn. 2008).  

Additionally, if lack of clarity in a statute raises problems involving governmental functions, 

“[s]uch problems should not be resolved upon technical grounds, but rather upon broad and 

practical considerations favoring the public interest.”  Lenz v. Coon Creek Watershed Dist., 

153 N.W.2d 209, 218 (Minn. 1967). 

A. 

We begin with the text of section 103D.311.  This case requires us to harmonize 

various parts of section 103D.311, subdivision 3.  The parties dispute two main issues in 

their interpretations of the statute: the scope of a county’s duty to appoint from city nominees, 

and the requirements of a valid list of nominees.  Ultimately, we conclude that the statute is 

ambiguous because the language is not clear on its face as to either of these issues.  See 

Hansen, 813 N.W.2d at 915–16. 

Section 103D.311, subdivision 3(a), states that, for watershed districts wholly within 

the metropolitan area, “county commissioners shall appoint the managers from a list of 

persons nominated jointly or severally by the [cities] within the district.”  (Emphasis added).  

The last sentence of subdivision 3(a) states that “county commissioners may appoint any 

managers from [cities] that fail to submit a list of nominees.”  (Emphasis added).  Thus, 

subdivision 3(a) creates a mandatory duty for a county to appoint city nominees—with the 

use of “shall”—and a permissive duty for a county to appoint eligible residents of cities that 

fail to nominate—with the use of “may.”  See Minn. Stat. § 645.44, subd. 15, 16 (2020) 

(defining “may” and “shall”).   



12 
 

These coexisting mandatory and permissive duties within subdivision 3(a) conflict in 

certain situations because of the unclear language about when the duties are triggered, but 

the duties do not conflict in all scenarios.  For example, when no cities nominate candidates 

for the manager position, these two provisions do not conflict because the mandatory duty 

to appoint city nominees is not operative when no cities nominate.  Accordingly, the 

permissive duty to appoint eligible residents of a non-nominating city can operate without 

conflict in such circumstances.  Likewise, there is no conflict when all cities nominate 

because the permissive duty to appoint eligible residents of cities that fail to nominate is not 

triggered when all cities nominate.  Accordingly, the mandatory duty to appoint city 

nominees can operate without conflict in this scenario.  But in the situation presented in this 

case—when some, but not all, cities nominate—the mandatory and permissive county duties 

conflict because both could potentially operate.   

The main question about the scope of a county’s duty to appoint from city nominees, 

then, is whether the mandatory and permissive duties can operate at the same time, as the 

County argues, or whether the permissive duty only operates when the mandatory duty 

cannot, as advocated by Circle Pines.  The County argues that because we must read statutes 

to give effect to all its provisions, the only reasonable interpretation of the statute is that both 

duties must operate simultaneously.  It contends that when only some cities nominate 

candidates, the statute either requires it to appoint a nominated candidate from a city that 

submitted nominees or allows it to appoint any eligible resident from a city that failed to 

submit nominees.  Circle Pines counters, however, that this interpretation renders the word 

“shall” meaningless, because it makes the duty to appoint from city nominees optional.  In 



13 
 

its view, the only way to interpret the statute to give “shall” meaning is to require counties 

to appoint from city nominees any time a city validly nominates candidates, even if some 

cities fail to nominate.  Yet the statute offers no explicit guidance on this question, and both 

interpretations are plausible given the lack of clear language dictating the intent of the 

Legislature.  Consequently, the statute is ambiguous as to the scope of a county’s duty to 

appoint from city nominees when some, but not all, cities nominate. 

The statute is also ambiguous regarding the requirements for a list or lists of nominees 

to be valid.  Subdivision 3 frequently cites the “list” in reference to both individual city 

nominee lists and the aggregate list of all city nominees and does so without distinguishing 

the requirements that pertain to each.  Subdivision 3(a) uses the word “list” four times in 

different contexts.  The statute initially provides that counties “shall appoint the managers 

from a list of persons nominated jointly or severally” by the cities in the district.  Minn. Stat. 

§ 103D.311, subd. 3(a).  In the next sentence, the statute specifies that “[t]he list must contain 

at least three nominees.”  Id.  The following sentence states that “the list” must be submitted 

to the county board at least 60 days before the manager’s term of office expires.  Id.  And 

finally, the last sentence of the paragraph states that counties may appoint managers from 

cities “that fail to submit a list of nominees.”  Id.  Subdivision 3(b) then states that if “the list 

is not submitted” within the proper time frame, the county must appoint eligible residents to 

the position.  Together, these provisions demonstrate that multiple cities can submit lists and 

that the county can appoint a manager from the aggregate list of those nominees.  The statute 



14 
 

thus contemplates two types of lists: individual city nominee lists and the aggregate list of 

all city nominees.8 

The statute does not distinguish between the two types of lists, however, referring 

to both as “the list” or “a list” in different sentences.  The requirement that “[t]he list must 

contain at least three nominees” immediately follows the sentence explaining the aggregate 

list, implying that it only applies to the aggregate list.  But conversely, if “the list” must be 

submitted within a certain timeframe, then “the list” in subdivisions 3(b) and 3(a) must 

refer to each individual city list because cities “submit” lists, while the aggregate list is 

presumably compiled, not submitted.  Like the arguments about the scope of the county’s 

duty to appoint from city nominees, these arguments are plausible due to the absence of 

clear language stating the Legislature’s intent.  Accordingly, we conclude that the statute 

is ambiguous as to the requirements of a valid list of nominees. 

B. 

 Because the meaning of the statute is not discernible based on the plain language, we 

may look to the purpose of the statute, the context in which the statute was enacted, the 

 
8 The concurrence/dissent contends that there is no statutory support for our 
conclusion that the statute contemplates an aggregate list of all city nominees created by 
the county.  But the statute’s use of the singular article “a” when explaining that counties 
must appoint from “a list of persons nominated jointly or severally” by the cities in the 
district shows that section 103D.311, subdivision 3, contemplates a singular list of all 
nominees submitted by participating cities.  This singular list does not refer to each 
individual city list because, as the statute explains, this list includes all persons “nominated 
jointly or severally,” so it must include the nominations from all cities that participate.  Id.  
We agree with the concurrence/dissent that “the list” of nominees from each city is 
“submit[ted]” to the county.  Id.  But, as noted above, the statute lacks clarity as to how the 
aggregate list is created and what it requires.  That lack of clarity is yet another reason why 
we conclude that the statute is ambiguous.  



15 
 

legislative history of the statute, and the consequences of various interpretations, so that we 

can ascertain the Legislature’s intent and interpret the statute accordingly.  Minn. Stat. 

§ 645.16.  When we consider the goals of the statute against the backdrop of the practical 

realities at play in this process and the consequences of the various proposed interpretations, 

we conclude that the statute requires counties to choose from city nominees unless those 

nominees cannot fairly represent the various hydrologic areas.  We also conclude that the 

three-nominee requirement applies only to the aggregate list of all city nominees. 

Section 103D.311, subdivision 3, was enacted in 1990 as part of a recodification and 

clarification of Minnesota’s water law.9  The 1990 version of the statute was the same as it 

exists now, except subdivision 3(a) did not include the last sentence creating the permissive 

duty for a county to appoint from eligible residents in cities that failed to nominate.  Minn. 

Stat. § 103D.311, subd. 3(a) (1990).  Thus, in the 1990 version of the statute, the direction 

given counties in metropolitan area watershed districts was that counties “shall appoint the 

managers from the list of persons nominated jointly or severally by the [cities] within the 

district.”  Id.  Subdivision 3 was then amended in 1992.  Act of April 17, 1992, ch. 466, 1992 

 
9 Two bills passed in 1990 affected the language of subdivision 3.  The first bill 
recodified the Watershed Law into chapter 103D and repealed the original law in chapter 
112.  Act of April 6, 1990, ch. 391, 1990 Minn. Laws 354, 465, 751–52.  The second bill 
amended the language of the original law in chapter 112 by altering the requirements for 
appointing managers of districts wholly within the metropolitan area.  Act of May 3, 1990, 
ch. 601, 1990 Minn. Laws 2426, 2427–28.  The final version of the law ultimately 
published by the revisor’s office merged the language of the two bills passed by the 
Legislature in 1990.  Minn. Stat. § 103D.311, subd. 3 (1990); see Minn. Stat. § 645.33 
(2020) (requiring that when two amendments to the same provision are enacted but one 
overlooks the other, the amendments “be construed together, if possible, and effect be 
given to each”). 



16 
 

Minn. Laws 306, 307.  The 1992 amendment to the statute added the last sentence of the 

current subdivision 3(a) but left the text of the 1990 statute the same.  Id. 

The legislative history to the 1992 amendment made clear the following purposes of 

subdivision 3: to encourage city involvement via the submission of nominees, to encourage 

counties to pay attention to city needs, and to ensure adequate representation and geographic 

balance across the district for each hydrologic area.  Hearing on S.F. 2298, Sen. Comm. 

Env’t Nat. Res., 77th Minn. Leg., Mar. 11, 1992 (audio tape at 3:21:11–33:36).  In the 

hearings on the 1992 amendment, the legislators discussed that the law was intended to get 

cities involved in the nomination process, but that as of 1992, cities often failed to participate.  

Id.  The result of lackluster city participation was that counties were forced to either choose 

nominees from a list submitted by only some cities in one area of the district, ignoring the 

fair representation requirement in subdivision 3(c); or appoint eligible residents to ensure 

geographic distribution, violating the mandate to appoint managers from city nominees in 

subdivision 3(a).  Id. 

The legislators first considered and rejected an initial proposal to give counties full 

discretion to appoint metropolitan area watershed district managers in an open appointments 

process without city nominations.  Id.  Instead, the legislators added the final sentence of 

subdivision 3(a), which enabled counties to appoint managers from municipalities that failed 

to submit a list of nominees.  Id.  Keeping the original text of subdivision 3(a) ensured that 

cities would have a chance to participate in the appointment process, while adding the last 

sentence of subdivision 3(a) ensured that counties had discretion to appoint outside city 

nominees so that subdivision 3(c)—requiring fair geographical representation—could 



17 
 

always operate.  Id.  Thus, the solution strengthened the requirement that managers be 

appointed with fair representation and geographic balance across the hydrologic areas in 

mind, guaranteeing that this requirement could always be met. 

Interpreting the statute to require counties to choose from city nominees unless they 

do not meet the fair representation requirement in subdivision 3(c)—and to always consider 

fair representation when making appointments—honors the purposes of the statute.  This 

interpretation encourages cities to participate in the process of nominations because their 

nominees must be considered.  It also makes the counties pay attention to cities by requiring 

prioritization of their nominees.  Prioritizing city involvement makes sense for metropolitan 

areas where development in cities requires consistent coordination with watershed districts.  

Additionally, this interpretation prioritizes geographic balance because it requires counties 

to consider fair representation when making appointments, fulfilling the subdivision 3(c) 

mandate in every case.  Allowing counties to appoint from outside city nominees only when 

the fair representation requirement is not met by the city nominees also gives counties the 

appropriate discretion to balance city input with geographic balance.  Ensuring geographic 

balance of metropolitan area watershed district managers also helps fulfill the purposes of 

the Watershed Act by facilitating the creation an integrated water plan across the district.  

See Adelman, 135 N.W.2d at 673.   

In contrast, adopting the County’s reading of the statute would greatly diminish the 

incentive for cities to participate in nominating managers because there would be no 

guarantee that the county would consider city nominations unless all cities in a district 

participated.  Across-the-board city participation is unlikely given the difficulty in finding 



18 
 

people interested in serving in these positions.  Additionally, under the County’s reading, the 

fair representation requirement in subdivision 3(c) would be left entirely up to county 

discretion.  Absolute county discretion over the appointment of managers would not 

necessarily ensure the geographic balance that the legislators were concerned about when 

making special requirements for metropolitan area watershed districts.  Not only that, but the 

Legislature also chose not to adopt the proposal to give counties full discretion to appoint 

managers in metropolitan area watershed districts.  Instead, it opted to add a sentence giving 

counties limited discretion and kept the city nomination process.  Consequently, adopting 

the County’s interpretation would run counter to the legislative intent. 

As to the requirements of a valid list, interpreting the statute to require counties to 

apply the three-nominee requirement only to the aggregate list of all city nominees also 

honors the purposes of the statute.  Applying the three-nominee requirement only to the 

aggregate list allows cities to nominate one candidate or as many as they wish, giving more 

flexibility to cities, lowering the barrier to participation, and fulfilling the purpose of 

encouraging city participation in the nomination process.  This interpretation still preserves 

some level of choice for counties because they must be presented with at least three 

candidates to be bound by the city nominations. 

Conversely, applying the three-nominee requirement to each individual city list 

would undermine the ability of cities to participate in various ways.  Finding multiple people 

who are interested in, qualified for, and available to serve on watershed district boards is a 

difficult task because of the relatively low availability of qualified candidates and the time 

requirements of the job.  And requiring each submission to have three nominees would 



19 
 

undermine the ability of cities to express support for the current manager in a contested 

appointments cycle because cities would have to nominate two additional candidates to get 

the current manager on a valid list. 

For that reason, we conclude that the statute requires the aggregate list of city 

nominees to have three nominees to be valid.  We also conclude that the statute requires 

counties to appoint managers to metropolitan area watershed districts from city nominees.  

Additionally, counties must consider the requirement in subdivision 3(c) that managers be 

appointed to fairly represent the various hydrologic areas in the district for every 

metropolitan area watershed district appointment.  Thus, the requirement that counties 

appoint managers from city nominees applies unless those nominees cannot fairly represent 

the various hydrologic areas in the watershed district. 

II. 

Having determined what is required of counties in making appointments to 

metropolitan area watershed districts under section 103D.311, subdivision 3, we address the 

district court’s application of the law in its summary judgment decision and the appropriate 

remedy.  The district court upheld the County’s appointment of Preiner, making several 

conclusions to support this result.  The district court agreed with the County’s interpretation 

of the statute that the statute grants counties the discretion to appoint residents from 

non-nominating cities if not all cities nominated.  Additionally, the district court impliedly 

concluded that each individual city’s list must include at least three nominees to be valid, 

and that consequently, Preiner was not validly nominated by Columbus.   



20 
 

These conclusions were made in error, because they were based on an incorrect 

interpretation of section 103D, subdivision 3.  The case must therefore be remanded to allow 

the district court to reconsider its application of the law to the facts in light of the statutory 

interpretation we have adopted herein.10  A county must appoint from the valid, aggregate 

list of city nominees unless those nominees fail to meet the fair representation requirement, 

and the aggregate list is valid when it has at least three nominees submitted by the 

participating cities.  The County, in making its decision to appoint Preiner, considered her to 

be a nominee from Columbus.  Yet the district court assumed that Preiner was not validly 

nominated.  On remand, the district court should answer the question of whether Columbus 

validly nominated Preiner, keeping in mind that the three-nominee requirement applies only 

to the aggregate list of city nominees.  Additionally, the district court must assess whether 

the County considered, when making the appointment, whether the nominees complied with 

the fair representation requirement in subdivision 3(c).11 

CONCLUSION 

 For the foregoing reasons, we reverse the decision of the court of appeals and remand 

to the district court for proceedings consistent with this opinion. 

 Reversed and remanded.

 
10 We note that section 103D.311, subdivision 3, is not a model of clarity, and the 
district court did not have the benefit of our interpretation when making its decision. 
 
11 If the district court finds that Preiner was nominated, the County need only have 
considered Preiner’s compliance with subdivision 3(c).  But if the district court finds that 
Preiner was not nominated, the County should have considered whether Circle Pines’s 
nominees complied with subdivision 3(c), and only considered Preiner if they did not. 



C/D-1 

C O N C U R R E N C E  &  D I S S E N T 

GILDEA, Chief Justice (concurring in part, dissenting in part). 

I agree with the majority that we should reverse the court of appeals.  But I disagree 

with the majority’s analysis. 

The plain language of the statute, Minn. Stat. § 103D.311, subdivision 3 (2020), 

resolves the issue presented here.  Sershen v. Metro. Council, 974 N.W.2d 1, 8 (Minn. 

2022) (“If the statutory language is unambiguous, our analysis ends, and we apply the 

statute's plain meaning.”).  Under that statute, the County “shall” appoint the manager from 

the list a city submits.  Minn. Stat. § 103D.311, subd. 3(a).  And to qualify as a “list” under 

the statute, the list must have three nominees.  Id. (“The list must contain at least three 

nominees . . . .”).  If no city submits such a list, then the County is able to appoint a manager 

who lives in any of the cities in the district.  Id. (“The county commissioners may appoint 

any managers from towns and municipalities that fail to submit a list of nominees.”). 

 Here, the City of Circle Pines is the only city within the district that submitted a list 

under the statute.  The City of Columbus nominated one person, but Columbus’ submission 

is not a list because it did not have three names.1  The County therefore is not able to 

consider the nomination Columbus submitted. 

 
1 The majority concludes that the “list” here was created when the County aggregated 
the three names from the list Circle Pines submitted and the one name Columbus submitted.  
There is no support in the statute for the majority’s conclusion that the County creates the 
“list” by aggregating all names the County receives however the County receives those 
names.  The statute makes it clear that the “list” comes from cities and is directed “to” not 
created by the county.  Minn. Stat. § 103D.311, subd. 3(a) (noting that “[t]he list must be 
submitted to the county boards”).   



C/D-2 

 But because Circle Pines submitted the list the statute defines, the County was 

obligated to appoint someone from that list unless the people nominated on the Circle Pines 

list are otherwise unqualified to serve.  See Minn. Stat. § 103D.311, subd. 3(c) (“Managers 

of a watershed district entirely within the metropolitan area must be appointed to fairly 

represent the various hydrologic areas within the watershed district by residence of the 

manager appointed.”). 

I would resolve the case on this basis and reverse.  Under my analysis, a remand is 

not necessary.  My determination that the County’s appointment does not comply with the 

statute ends the case. 

 

ANDERSON, Justice (concurring in part, dissenting in part) 

 I join the concurrence and dissent of Chief Justice Gildea. 

 

HUDSON, Justice (concurring in part, dissenting in part) 

 I join the concurrence and dissent of Chief Justice Gildea. 


























































	Top
	A.	Oath of Office - Sergeant Karen Fiske
	A.	Approval of Minutes - July 18, 2022 City Council Meeting
	07.18.22 CC

	B.	Contractor's Licenses
	Contractor's Licenses

	C.	Special Event Permit - Spring Lake Park Schools
	Spring Lake Park School Special Event Permit Application 2022
	Start Your Engine Event Permit Addendum

	A.	Public Works Report
	July 2022  Public Works Report

	B.	Code Enforcement Report
	Code Enforcement 7 July 2022

	A.	IUP for Platinum Auto Group LLC
	22-36 - Approval of IUP for Tint Pros
	CC - interim use permit for Tint Pros - 7.26.22

	A.	Authorization to Begin Testing Process for Police Officer Position
	Authorization to Test for Police Officer Position

	A.	Attorney Report
	B.	Engineer Report
	2022-08-01_Engineers_Report_for_SLP

	C.	Administrator Report
	A.	Correspondence
	Thank You Note
	muni-playbook-2H2022-municipal-commentary_7.15.22
	SKM_C650i22072610010
	Municipal Basis Points Commentary-unlocked
	Opinion 7.20.22
	SKM_C650i22072611470
	SKM_C650i22071912490
	SKM_C650i22071113590

	Bottom

